



JOINT FAO/WHO FOOD STANDARDS PROGRAMME CODEX COMMITTEE ON FOOD LABELLING

Forty-First Session
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada, 14 - 17 May 2013

Report on Physical Working Group 13 May 2013

Revision of the Guidelines for the Production, Processing, Labelling and Marketing of Organically Produced Foods (GL 32-1999) to include Aquaculture and Seaweed

The Working Group was attended by 36 member countries, the EU and nine observers. Good progress was made on reaching further agreement on the text. A number of recommendations have been made for consideration at the 41st CCFL. These are outlined in this report and in the further revised text of CAC/GL 32-1999 attached as an Appendix.

Section 2. Description and Definitions

The definition of Aquaculture was amended with a footnote referring to species currently covered for purpose of the Guidelines, i.e. aquatic organisms include fish, shellfish, seaweed and other algae, but excluding mammals, aquatic reptiles and amphibians.

The delegation of Japan, supported by Peru, proposed that the scope of the Guidelines be extended to include capture fisheries by including text in Section 2 of in the Foreword. As there was no general support for this, it is recommended that the scope is not amended to include capture fisheries.

The Chair referred to the existing definition of livestock, which specifically excludes the products of hunting or fishing of wild animals. An error was pointed out in the Report of the eWG. The penultimate sentence of paragraph 17 of 3.A should read "Wild harvest of aquatic animals is in any case **out** of scope of organic productions.'

The Working Group recommended that the definition of Aquaculture used here, which is based on the definition used in the FAO Technical Guidelines for Aquaculture Certification (2011) be also recommended for use in the Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products.

The Working Group recommends the simplified definition of closed recirculation systems. As regards **Conversion** the first of two options was recommended with an additional phrase added at the suggestion of Argentina. The pWG recommended that the definition of Locally grown aquatic species be deleted as it agreed to use the alternative text 'breeds adapted to local conditions' in Annex 1.

It was recommended that the definition of Seaweed be substantially revised and renamed Algae in order to include phytoplanktonic algae and microalgae. No specific guidance for phytoplanktonic algae and microalgae is available at this time and this can be developed under a future revision. In the mean time

the general conditions for algae apply. Linked to this revision it was recommended that aquatic plants (true plants or *Plantae*) be subject to the guidance of Annex 1, A.1, Plants and plant products, as referred to in its para 9.

Section 4. Rules for production and preparation, Section 5. Substances and Section 6. Inspection and Certification

A small amendment was recommended in the final sentence of 4.4 to extend the provisions regarding derogation to include algae. Small changes were recommended in Section 5.1.d to bring the terminology in line with the rest of the document and in 5.2 to remove the square brackets regarding exceptional rules. Likewise in Section 6 it was recommended that the square brackets be removed and a second reference to 'annually' be deleted.

Annex 1. Principles of Organic production.

In line with the amended definition of Algae it was recommended that the title of A.2 become 'Algae and their products', that the first para be deleted as no longer necessary and the term 'algae' be substituted for the term 'seaweed and other algae' throughout the Annexes.

In line with the proposal from Brazil, it was recommended that a future revision would incorporate a list of permitted fertilizers for algae production.

For B.2 Aquaculture animals and their products it was recommended that the introductory paragraph also make a reference to the Section 7 of the Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products (CAC/RCP 52-2003) which concerns the processing of live and raw bivalve molluscs.

The pWG discussed the requirement for organic management plans for aquaculture to be included in section B2 and recommended to retain it. It was recommended that the text suggested by Australia in para 4 regarding monitoring for early detection of contaminants be included with the word 'may' as a qualifier.

It was recommended following the suggestion of Malaysia that para 4' be renamed **Site Selection** and that the reference to the FAO Technical Guidelines be deleted at the end of the para on account of ambiguity regarding not using waste water.

A new para 5' was recommended to anchor in this Annex 1 the table of agriculture inputs for fertilizing and conditioning aquaculture ponds proposed by Thailand (Annex 2, Table 1'). The contents of this table were not discussed under the final agenda point due to time constraints but it is recommended that it should be further examined further before being finalized.

It was recommended that para 7 be named **Conversion period for operations**. Following the proposal from the US, with support from several delegations, that where a facility can be drained cleaned and disinfected, that a conversion period be waived; it is recommended that this amendment be made providing that only permitted cleaning materials be used (Annex 2, Table 2').

It was recommended that the paragraph on **Origin of Stock** be amended as follows:

- First sentence amended to refer to 'breeds adapted to local conditions' rather than 'locally grown species' as mentioned under Definitions above
- That the term 'juvenile' be used rather than 'young'
- That specific guidelines for Crustaceans be included
- That where organic juveniles are not available, the Competent Authority may permit the limited use of non-organic or wild caught sources.

Following an extended exchange of views agreement was not reached regarding the **use of hormones**. Canada explained that their proposal for using hormones was limited to stimulating reproduction in broodstock and would not be present in eggs or juveniles. Japan and Brazil also supported this view,

while Argentina wanted the use confined to migratory native species bred in captivity. Other delegations (IFOAM, US, EU and Austria) were opposed to permitting hormones on the basis that it was not aligned with market expectations of organic. As a result the square brackets on the text preventing the use hormones could not be removed and this is referred for consideration at the plenary meeting.

An extended exchange of views took place concerning the need for **maximum stocking densities** in organic aquaculture, with some delegation stating the view that outcome based criteria were more appropriate to guarantee welfare and that the scientific basis for setting maximum density values was not yet available. Others remained convinced of the need for such values. It is recommended that the relevant paragraph be amended to highlight at the beginning the natural behavior of the species and the maintenance of good welfare, with the proviso that Competent Authorities may set stocking density limits, and they should in general be lower than in conventional farming.

A wide debate took place on whether **closed recirculation systems** (for grow-out) are consistent with organic principles. There was more support for permitting them in organic farming than was evident in the eWG. Norway suggested an alternative text which is now included in the Appendix for discussion at the plenary meeting.

It was recommended that para 14 on **criteria for production systems** be deleted on the basis of lack of a scientific basis at this point in time.

The section on **nutrition** was discussed and it is recommended that the revised text mainly based on the proposal from Argentina be approved. The US suggested at the meeting that the feeding of carnivorous fish to the same species should be accepted in the Guidelines as being in line with organic principles. In the context of this debate, which received support from a number of other delegations, the amended text incorporates a provision regarding prevention of disease transfer via feedstuffs, as suggested by New Zealand. It is recommended that the new text on nutrition be discussed at the plenary.

It is recommended that paragraph 16 on **Health and Welfare** be amended to refer to:

- use the term 'should be based' in relation to the OIE Code
- Alternative natural and homeopathic treatments be used in preference to veterinary drugs where effective.

It is recommended that paragraph on Transport be renamed **Harvesting and Transport** and that the relevant section on aquaculture harvesting of the Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products is referenced.

Time did not allow a detailed discussion of the three new tables proposed for Annex 2. It is recommended that discussion on these take place at the plenary, but not at the expense of permitting discussion of the main sections of the text and Annex I.

In summary, the main outstanding issues concern:

- The use of hormones in broodstock
- The place of closed recirculation systems in organic aquaculture
- The list of permitted substances in new tables in Annex 2

The Chair and Rapporteur would like to thank the delegates for their participation and for the good spirit of cooperation at the physical Working Group.

APPENDIX 1

**GUIDELINES FOR THE PRODUCTION, PROCESSING, LABELLING AND
MARKETING OF ORGANICALLY PRODUCED FOODS**

GL 32-1999

PREFACE

The **Codex Alimentarius Commission** is an intergovernmental body with over 180 members, within the framework of the Joint Food Standards Programme established by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO), with the purpose of protecting the health of consumers and ensuring fair practices in the food trade. The Commission also promotes coordination of all food standards work undertaken by international governmental and non governmental organizations.

The Codex Alimentarius (Latin, meaning Food Law or Code) is the result of the Commission's work: a collection of internationally adopted food standards, guidelines, codes of practice and other recommendations. The texts in this publication are part of the Codex Alimentarius.

Food labelling is the primary means of communication between the producer and seller of food on one hand, and the purchaser and consumer of the other. The Codex Alimentarius standards and guidelines on food labelling are published in a specific volume: *Food Labelling – Complete Texts*. In addition to the general recommendations, the Codex Committee on Food Labelling also provides guidance for certain claims commonly found in the market in order to provide clear information to the consumer.

The Codex Committee on Food Labelling developed the *Guidelines for the Production, Processing, Labelling and Marketing of Organically Produced Foods* in view of the growing production and international trade in organically produced foods with a view to facilitating trade and preventing misleading claims. The *Guidelines* are intended to facilitate the harmonization of requirements for organic products at the international level, and may also provide assistance to governments wishing to establish national regulations in this area.

The *Guidelines* include general sections describing the organic production concept and the scope of the text; description and definitions; labelling and claims (including products in transition/conversion); rules of production and preparation, including criteria for the substances allowed in organic production; inspection and certification systems; and import control.

Further information on labelling texts, or any other aspect of the Codex Alimentarius Commission, may be obtained from:

*The Secretary,
Codex Alimentarius Commission,
Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme,
FAO, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla,
00153, Rome Italy
fax: +39(06)57.05.45.93
email: codex@fao.org
Internet address: <http://www.codexalimentarius.net>*

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	1
SECTION 1. SCOPE	2
SECTION 2. DESCRIPTION AND DEFINITIONS	3
2.1 Description	3
2.2 Definitions	3
SECTION 3. LABELLING AND CLAIMS	4
General provisions	4
Labelling of products in transition/conversion to organic	5
Labelling of non-retail containers	5
SECTION 4. RULES OF PRODUCTION AND PREPARATION	6
SECTION 5. REQUIREMENTS FOR INCLUSION OF SUBSTANCES IN ANNEX 2 AND CRITERIA FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LISTS OF SUBSTANCES BY COUNTRIES	6
The open nature of the lists	7
SECTION 6. INSPECTION AND CERTIFICATION SYSTEMS	7
SECTION 7. IMPORTS	8
ANNEX 1. PRINCIPLES OF ORGANIC PRODUCTION	10
A. Plants and plant products	10
B. Livestock and livestock products	11
General principles	11
Livestock sources/origin	11
Conversion	12
Nutrition	12
Health care	13
Livestock husbandry, transport and slaughter	14
Housing and free-range conditions	15
Manure management	16
Record keeping and identification	16
Species specific requirements	16
C. Handling, storage, transportation, processing and packaging	18
Pest management	18
Processing and manufacturing	18
Packaging	18
Storage and transport	18
ANNEX 2. PERMITTED SUBSTANCES FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ORGANIC FOODS	19
ANNEX 3. MINIMUM INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS AND PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES UNDER THE INSPECTION OR CERTIFICATION SYSTEM	29
A. Production units	29
B. Preparation and packaging units	30
C. Imports	31

GUIDELINES FOR THE PRODUCTION, PROCESSING, LABELLING AND MARKETING OF ORGANICALLY PRODUCED FOODS

GL 32-1999

FOREWORD

1. These guidelines have been prepared for the purpose of providing an agreed approach to the requirements which underpin production of, and the labelling and claims for, organically produced foods.
2. The aims of these guidelines are:
 - to protect consumers against deception and fraud in the market place and unsubstantiated product claims;
 - to protect producers of organic produce against misrepresentation of other [food products agricultural and aquaculture produce](#) as being [organic](#)[TW1];
 - to ensure that all stages of production, preparation, storage, transport and marketing are subject to inspection and comply with these guidelines;
 - to harmonize provisions for the production, certification, identification and labelling [have of](#) organically grown produce;
 - to provide international guidelines for organic food control systems in order to facilitate recognition of national systems as equivalent for the purposes of imports; and
 - to maintain and enhance organic [agricultural food production](#) systems in each country so as to contribute to local and global preservation.
3. These guidelines are at this stage a first step into official international harmonization of the requirements for organic products in terms of production and marketing standards, inspection arrangements and labelling requirements. In this area the experience with the development of such requirements and their implementation is still very limited. Moreover, consumer perception on the organic production method may, in certain detailed but important provisions, differ from region to region in the world. Therefore, the following is recognized at this stage:
 - the guidelines are a useful instrument in assisting countries to develop national regimes regulating production, marketing and labelling of organic foods;
 - the guidelines need regular improvement and updating in order to take into account technical progress and the experience with their implementation;
 - the guidelines do not prejudice the implementation of more restrictive arrangements and more detailed rules by member countries in order to maintain consumer credibility and prevent fraudulent practices, and to apply such rules to products from other countries on the basis of equivalency to such more restrictive provisions.
4. These guidelines set out the principles of organic production at farm, preparation, storage, transport, labelling and marketing stages, and provides an indication of accepted permitted inputs for soil fertilizing and conditioning, plant pest and disease control, [substances for cleaning and disinfection](#) -and, food additives and processing aids. For labelling purposes, the use of terms inferring that organic production methods have been used are restricted to products derived from operators under the supervision of a certification body or authority.
5. Organic [agriculture production](#) is one among the broad spectrum of methodologies which are supportive of the environment. Organic production systems are based on specific and precise standards of production which aim at achieving optimal [agro and aquatic](#) ecosystems which are socially, ecologically and economically sustainable. Terms such as “biological” and “ecological” are also used in an effort to describe the organic system more clearly. Requirements for organically produced foods differ from those for other [food products agricultural or aquacultural](#) products in that production procedures are an intrinsic part of the identification and labelling of, and claim for, such products.
6. “Organic” is a labelling term that denotes products that have been produced in accordance with organic production standards and certified by a duly constituted certification body or authority. Organic [agriculture food production](#) is based on minimizing the use of external inputs, avoiding the use of synthetic fertilizers and pesticides. Organic [agriculture production](#) practices cannot ensure that products are completely free of residues, due to general environmental pollution. However, methods are used to minimize pollution of air, soil and water. Organic food handlers, processors and retailers adhere to standards to maintain the integrity of organic agriculture [and aquaculture](#) products. The primary goal of organic [agriculture production](#) is to optimize

- the health and productivity of interdependent communities of soil or aquatic life life, plants, animals and people.
7. Organic ~~agriculture–food production~~ is a holistic production management system which promotes and enhances agro and aquatic ecosystem health, including biodiversity, biological cycles, and soil biological activity in agriculture or water biological activity in aquaculture. It emphasizes the use of management practices in preference to the use of off-farm inputs, taking into account that regional conditions require locally adapted systems. This is accomplished by using, where possible, cultural, biological and mechanical methods, as opposed to using synthetic ~~materials/substances~~, to fulfil any specific function within the system. An organic production system is designed to:
 - a) enhance biological diversity within the whole system;
 - b) increase soil biological activity in agriculture or water biological activity in aquaculture;
 - c) maintain long-term soil fertility in agriculture and quality of the aquatic environment in aquaculture;
 - d) recycle wastes of plant and animal origin in order to return nutrients to the land, thus minimizing the use of non-renewable resources;
 - e) rely on renewable resources in locally organized ~~agricultural-production~~ systems;
 - f) promote the healthy use of soil, water and air as well as minimize all forms of pollution thereto that may result from ~~agricultural-production~~ practices;
 - g) handle agricultural products with emphasis on careful processing methods in order to maintain the organic integrity and vital qualities of the product at all stages;
 - h) preserve natural aquatic resources;
 - i) maintain the marine or freshwater environment in the case of aquaculture by keeping impact on the environment low;
 - h*j*) become established on any existing farm through a period of conversion, the appropriate length of which is determined by site-specific factors such as the history of the land or aquatic medium, and type of crops, ~~and~~ livestock, or aquatic organism to be produced.
 8. The concept of close contact between the consumer and the producer is a long established practice. Greater market demand, the increasing economic interests in production, and the increasing distance between producer and consumer has stimulated the introduction of external control and certification procedures.
 9. An integral component of certification is the inspection of the organic management system. Procedures for operator certification are based primarily on a yearly description of the agricultural or aquacultural enterprise as prepared by the operator in cooperation with the inspection body. Likewise, at the processing level, standards are also developed against which the processing operations and plant conditions can be inspected and verified. Where the inspection process is undertaken by the certification body or authority, there must be clear separation of the inspection and certification function. In order to maintain their integrity, certification bodies or authorities which certify the procedures of the operator should be independent of economic interests with regard to the certification of operators.
 10. Apart from a small portion of ~~agricultural–food~~ commodities marketed directly from the farm to consumers, most products find their way to consumers via established trade channels. To minimize deceptive practices in the market place, specific measures are necessary to ensure that trade and processing enterprises can be audited effectively. Therefore, the regulation of a process, rather than a final product, demands responsible action by all involved parties.
 11. Import requirements should be based on the principles of equivalency and transparency as set out in the *Principles for Food Import and Export Inspection and Certification*.¹ In accepting imports of organic products, countries would usually assess the inspection and certification procedures and the standards applied in the exporting country.
 12. Recognizing that organic production systems continue to evolve and that organic principles and standards will continue to be developed under these guidelines, the Codex Committee on Food Labelling (CCFL) shall review these guidelines on a regular basis. The CCFL shall initiate this review process by inviting member governments and international organizations to make proposals to the CCFL regarding amendments to these guidelines prior to each CCFL meeting.

SECTION 1. SCOPE

¹ CAC/GL 20-1995.

- 1.1 These guidelines apply to the following products which carry, or are intended to carry, descriptive labelling referring to organic production methods:
- unprocessed plants and plant products, [seaweed and other algae and their products](#), livestock and livestock products, [aquaculture animal and aquaculture animal products](#) to the extent that the principles of production and specific inspection rules for them are introduced in Annexes 1 and 3; and
 - processed agricultural crop ~~and~~, livestock [and aquatic](#) products² intended for human consumption derived from (a) above.
- 1.2 A product will be regarded as bearing indications referring to organic production methods where, in the labelling or claims, including advertising material or commercial documents, the product, or its ingredients, is described by the terms “organic”, “biodynamic”, “biological”, “ecological”, or words of similar intent including diminutives which, in the country where the product is placed on the market, suggests to the purchaser that the product or its ingredients were obtained according to organic production methods.
- 1.3 Paragraph 1.2 does not apply where these terms clearly have no connection with the method of production.
- 1.4 These guidelines apply without prejudice to other Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC) provisions governing the production, preparation, marketing, labelling and inspection of the products specified in paragraph 1.1.
- 1.5 All materials and/or the products produced from genetically engineered/modified organisms (GEO/GMO) are not compatible with the principles of organic production (either the growing, manufacturing, or processing) and therefore are not accepted under these guidelines.

SECTION 2. DESCRIPTION AND DEFINITIONS

2.1 Description

Foods should only refer to organic production methods if they come from an organic [farm production](#) system employing management practices which seek to nurture ecosystems which achieve sustainable productivity, and provide weed, pest and disease control through a diverse mix of mutually dependent life forms, recycling plant and animal residues, crop selection and rotation, water management, tillage and cultivation. Soil fertility is maintained and enhanced by a system which optimizes soil biological activity and the physical and mineral nature of the soil as the means to provide a balanced nutrient supply for plant and animal life as well as to conserve soil resources. Production should be sustainable with the recycling of plant nutrients as an essential part of the fertilizing strategy. Pest and disease management is attained by means of the encouragement of a balanced host/predator relationship, augmentation of beneficial insect populations, biological and cultural control and mechanical removal of pests and affected plant parts. The basis for organic ~~livestock~~ husbandry [of terrestrial or aquatic animals](#) is the development of a harmonious relationship between ~~land, plants and livestock~~ [their environment, flora and fauna](#), and respect for ~~the~~ [their characteristic](#) physiological and behavioural needs ~~of livestock~~. This is achieved by a combination of providing good quality organically grown feedstuffs, appropriate stocking rates, ~~livestock animal~~ husbandry systems appropriate to behavioural needs, and animal management practices that minimize stress and seek to promote animal health and welfare, prevent disease and avoid the use of chemical allopathic veterinary drugs (including antibiotics).

2.2 Definitions

For the purpose of these guidelines:

Agricultural product/product of agricultural origin means any product or commodity, raw or processed, that is marketed for human consumption (excluding water, salt and additives) or animal feed. [For the purpose of these Guidelines reference to agricultural product/product of agricultural origin may be understood as also referring to aquatic product/product of aquatic origin, having regard to the specific characteristics of this sector.](#)

Aquaculture means the farming of aquatic organisms³ [\(fish, molluscs, crustaceans, seaweed and other algae\)](#) involving intervention in the rearing process to enhance production and the individual or corporate ownership of the stock being cultivated⁴.

(Aquaculture) production cycle means the lifespan of an aquaculture animal or seaweed from the [earliest life stage to harvesting.](#)

² Until lists of ingredients of non agricultural origin and processing aids permitted in the preparation of products of livestock origin are elaborated, competent authorities should develop their own lists.

³ [\[For the purpose of these Guidelines aquatic organisms include fish, shellfish, seaweed and other algae, but excluding mammals, aquatic reptiles, birds and amphibians\]](#)

Audit is a systematic and functionally independent examination to determine whether activities and related results comply with planned objectives.⁴

Certification is the procedure by which official certification bodies, or officially recognized certification bodies, provide written or equivalent assurance that foods or food control systems conform to requirements. Certification of food may be, as appropriate, based on a range of inspection activities which may include continuous on-line inspection, auditing of quality assurance systems and examination of finished products.⁵

Certification body means a body which is responsible for verifying that a product sold or labelled as “organic” is produced, processed, prepared handled, and imported according to these guidelines.

~~**[Closed recirculation system means a type of enclosed unit (on land or a vessel) containment system, with very limited and managed barrier-connection to open waters, with recirculation depending on permanent external energy input to pump/circulate the water, and a system to treat the effluent water to enable its reuse.]**~~

Competent authority means the official government agency having jurisdiction.

~~**Containment system** means equipment for growing aquaculture animals or algae seaweed which minimises the risk of prevents dispersal of the aquatic organism concerned - examples are, cages (net pens), ponds and tanks, long-line and rafts holding suspended ropes with the organisms attached and net bags on trestle tables, for shellfish.~~

~~**[Conversion period** means the transition from conventional to organic farming within a given period of time, during which the guidelines concerning the organic production have been fully and continuously applied.~~

~~**Or**~~

~~**Conversion** means the time of transition from non-organic to organic farming]~~

Genetically engineered/modified organisms. The following provisional definition is provided for genetically/modified organisms.⁶ Genetically engineered/modified organisms, and products thereof, are produced through techniques in which the genetic material has been altered in a way that does not occur naturally by mating and/or natural recombination.

Techniques of genetic engineering/modification include, but are not limited to: recombinant DNA, cell fusion, micro and macro injection, encapsulation, gene deletion and doubling. Genetically engineered organisms will not include organisms resulting from artificial polyploidy or from techniques such as conjugation, transduction and hybridization.

Ingredient means any substance, including a food additive, used in the manufacture or preparation of a food and present in the final product although possibly in a modified form.⁷

Inspection is the examination of food or systems for control of food, raw materials, processing, and distribution including in-process and finished product testing, in order to verify that they conform to requirements.⁸ For organic food, inspection includes the examination of the production and processing system.

Labelling means any written, printed or graphic matter that is present on the label, accompanies the food, or is displayed near the food, including that for the purpose of promoting its sale or disposal.⁹

Livestock means any domestic or domesticated terrestrial animal including bovine (including buffalo and bison), ovine, porcine, caprine, equine, poultry and bees raised for food or in the production of food.¹⁰ The products of hunting or fishing of wild animals or of aquaculture shall not be considered part of this definition.

~~**[Locally grown aquatic species** means both aquatic species which are grown within their natural range and those aquatic species which though outside their natural range, have been grown in commercial practice in an area and have adapted well to the local environment and management conditions without adverse effects on habitats or on native species]~~

Marketing means holding for sale or displaying for sale, offering for sale, selling, delivering or placing on the market in any other form.

Official accreditation is the procedure by which a government agency having jurisdiction formally recognizes the competence of an inspection and/or certification body to provide inspection and certification services. For organic production the competent authority may delegate the accreditation function to a private body.

⁴ CAC/GL 20-1995.

⁵ CAC/GL 20-1995.

⁶ In the absence of a definition of genetically engineered/modified organisms agreed by the Codex Alimentarius Commission, this definition has been developed in order to provide initial guidance for governments in the application of these guidelines. This definition is therefore to remain under review in the light of other considerations by the Commission and its Committees. In the interim, member countries may also apply national definitions.

⁷ *General Standard for the Labelling of Prepackaged Foods*, Section 4 – Labelling of Prepackaged Foods (CODEX STAN 1-1985).

⁸ CAC/GL 20-1995.

⁹ CODEX STAN 1-1985.

¹⁰ Provisions for aquaculture will be elaborated at a future date.

Officially recognized inspection systems/officially recognized certification systems are systems which have been formally approved or recognized by a government agency having jurisdiction.¹¹

Operator means any person who produces, prepares or imports, with a view to the subsequent marketing thereof, products as referred to in Section 1.1, or who markets such products.

Plant protection product means any substance intended for preventing, destroying, attracting, repelling, or controlling any pest or disease including unwanted species of plants or animals during the production, storage, transport, distribution and processing of food, agricultural commodities, or animal feeds.

Preparation means the operations of slaughtering, processing, preserving and packaging of agricultural and aquacultural products and also alterations made to the labelling concerning the presentation of the organic production method.

Production means the operations undertaken to supply agricultural-food products in the state in which they occur on the farm, including initial packaging and labelling of the product.

Seaweed Algae means large aquatic marine algae seaweed occurring both naturally and under cultivation, but and also specifically excluding phytoplankton tonic algae and microalgae and blue-green algae (such as Spirulina)[‡]

Veterinary drug means any substance applied or administered to any food-producing animal, such as meat or milk-producing animals, poultry, fish or bees, whether used for therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic purposes or for modification of physiological functions or behaviour.¹²

SECTION 3. LABELLING ~~AND CLAIMS~~

General provisions

- 3.1 Organic products should be labelled in accordance with the Codex *General Standard for the Labelling of Prepackaged Foods*.¹³
- 3.2 The labelling and claims of a product specified in Section 1.1(a) may refer to organic production methods only where:
- such indications show clearly that they relate to a method of agricultural-food production;
 - the product was produced in accordance with the requirements of Section 4 or imported under the requirements laid down in Section 7;
 - the product was produced or imported by an operator who is subject to the inspection measures laid down in Section 6, and
 - the labelling refers to the name and/or code number of the officially recognized inspection or certification body to which the operator who has carried out the production or the most recent processing operation is subject.
- 3.3 The labelling and claims of a product specified in paragraph 1.1(b) may refer to organic production methods only where:
- such indication show clearly that they relate to a method of agricultural-food production and are linked with the name of the agricultural-food product in question, unless such indication is clearly given in the list of ingredients;
 - all the ingredients of agricultural or aquacultural origin of the product are, or are derived from, products obtained in accordance with the requirements of Section 4, or imported under the arrangements laid down in Section 7;
 - the product should not contain any ingredient of non-agricultural origin not listed in Annex 2, Table 3;
 - the same ingredients shall not be derived from an organic and non-organic origin;
 - the product or its ingredients have not been subjected during preparation to treatments involving the use of ionizing radiation or substances not listed in Annex 2, Table 4;
 - the product was prepared or imported by an operator subject to the regular inspection system as set out in Section 6 of these guidelines; and
 - the labelling refers to the name and/or the code number of the official or officially recognized certification body or authority to which the operator who has carried out the most recent preparation operation is subject.
- 3.4 By way of derogation from paragraph 3.3(b),
- certain ingredients of agricultural origin not satisfying the requirement in that paragraph may be used, within the limit of maximum level of 5% m/m of the total ingredients excluding salt and water in the final product, in the preparation of products as referred to in paragraph 1.1(b);

¹¹ CAC/GL 20-1995.

¹² Codex Alimentarius Commission Procedural Manual, Definitions.

¹³ CODEX STAN 1-1985.

- where such ingredients of agricultural origin are not available, or in sufficient quantity, in accordance with the requirements of Section 4 of these guidelines;
- 3.5 Pending further review of the guidelines, Member Countries can consider the following with regard to products referred to in paragraph 1.1(b) marketed in their territory:
- the development of specific labelling provisions for products containing less than 95% ingredients of agricultural ingredients;
 - the calculation of the percentages in 3.4 (5%) and in 3.5 (95%) on the basis of the ingredients of agricultural origin (instead of all ingredients excluding only salt and water);
 - the marketing of product with in transition/conversion labelling containing more than one ingredient of agricultural origin.
- 3.6 In developing labelling provisions from products containing less than 95% of organic ingredients in accordance with the paragraph above, member countries may consider the following elements in particular for products containing 95% and 70% of organic ingredients:
- a) the product satisfies the requirements of paragraphs 3.3(c), (d) (e), (f) and (g);
 - b) the indications referring to organic production methods should only appear on the front panel as a reference to the approximate percentage of the total ingredients including additives but excluding salt and water;
 - c) the ingredients, appear in descending order (mass/mass) in the list of ingredients;
 - d) indications in the list of ingredients appear in the same colour and with an identical style and size of lettering as other indications in the list of ingredient.

Labelling of products in transition/conversion to organic

- 3.7 Products of farms in transition to organic production methods may only be labelled as “transition to organic” after 12 months of production using organic methods providing that:
- a) the requirements referred to in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 are fully satisfied;
 - b) the indications referring to transition/conversion do not mislead the purchaser of the product regarding its difference from products obtained from farms and/or farm units which have fully completed the conversion period;
 - c) such indication take the form of words, such as “product under conversion to organic farming”, or similar words or phrase accepted by the competent authority of the country where the product is marketed, and must appear in a colour, size and style of lettering which is not more prominent than the sales description of the product;
 - d) foods composed of a single ingredient may be labelled as “transition to organic” on the principal display panel;
 - e) the labelling refers to the name and/or the code number of the official or officially approved certification body or authority to which the operator who has carried out the most recent preparation is subject.

Labelling of non-retail containers

- 3.8 The labelling of non-retail containers of product specified in paragraph 1.1 should meet the requirements set out in Annex 3, paragraph 10.

SECTION 4. RULES OF PRODUCTION AND PREPARATION

- 4.1 Organic production methods require that for the production of products referred to in paragraph 1.1(a):
- a) at least the production requirements of Annex 1 should be satisfied;
 - b) in the case where (a) (above) is not effective, substances listed in Annex 2, Tables 1 and 2 or substances approved by individual countries that meet the criteria established in Section 5.1, may be used as plant protection products, fertilizers, soil conditioners, insofar as the corresponding use is not prohibited in general agriculture [and aquaculture](#) in the country concerned in accordance with the relevant national provisions.
- 4.2 Organic processing methods require that for the preparation of products referred to in paragraph 1.1(b):
- a) at least the processing requirements of Annex 1 should be satisfied;
 - b) substances listed in Annex 2, Tables 3 and 4 or substances approved by individual countries that meet the criteria established in Section 5.1 may be used as ingredients of non-agricultural origin or processing aids insofar as the corresponding use is not prohibited in the relevant national requirements concerning the preparation of food products and according to good manufacturing practice.
- 4.3 Organic products should be stored and transported according to the requirements of Annex 1.

- 4.4 By derogation of the provisions of paragraphs 4.1 (a) and 4.2 (a), the competent authority may, with regard to the provisions on livestock and aquaculture animal production at Annex 1, provide for more detailed rules as well as for derogations for implementation periods in order to permit gradual development of organic farming practices.

SECTION 5. REQUIREMENTS FOR INCLUSION OF SUBSTANCES IN ANNEX 2 AND CRITERIA FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LISTS OF SUBSTANCES BY COUNTRIES

- 5.1 At least the following criteria should be used for the purposes of amending the permitted substance lists referred to in Section 4. In using these criteria to evaluate new substances for use in organic production, countries should take into account all applicable statutory and regulatory provisions and make them available to other countries upon request.

Any proposals for the inclusion in Annex 2 of new substances must meet the following general criteria:

- i) they are consistent with principles of organic production as outlined in these Guidelines;
- ii) use of the substance is necessary/essential for its intended use;
- iii) manufacture, use and disposal of the substance does not result in, or contribute to, harmful effects on the environment;
- iv) they have the lowest negative impact on human or animal health and quality of life; and
- v) approved alternatives are not available in sufficient quantity and/or quality.

The above criteria are intended to be evaluated as a whole in order to protect the integrity of organic production. In addition, the following criteria should be applied in the evaluation process:

- a) if they are used for fertilization, soil conditioning purposes:
 - they are essential for obtaining or maintaining the fertility of the soil or to fulfil specific nutrition requirements of crops, or specific soil-conditioning and rotation purposes which cannot be satisfied by the practices included in Annex 1, or other products included in Table 2 of Annex 2; and
 - the ingredients will be of plant, animal, microbial, or mineral origin and may undergo the following processes: physical (e.g., mechanical, thermal), enzymatic, microbial (e.g., composting, fermentation); only when the above processes have been exhausted, chemical processes may be considered and only for the extraction of carriers and binders;¹⁴ and
 - their use does not have a harmful impact on the balance of the soil ecosystem or the physical characteristics of the soil, or water and air quality; and
 - their use may be restricted to specific conditions, specific regions or specific commodities;
- b) if they are used for the purpose of plant disease or pest and weed control:
 - they should be essential for the control of a harmful organism or a particular disease for which other biological, physical, or plant breeding alternatives and/or effective management practices are not available; and
 - their use should take into account the potential harmful impact on the environment, the ecology (in particular non-target organisms) and the health of consumers, livestock and bees; and
 - substances should be of plant, animal, microbial, or mineral origin and may undergo the following processes: physical (e.g. mechanical, thermal), enzymatic, microbial (e.g. composting, digestion);
 - however, if they are products used, in exceptional circumstances, in traps and dispensers such as pheromones, which are chemically synthesized they will be considered for addition to lists if the products are not available in sufficient quantities in their natural form, provided that the conditions for their use do not directly or indirectly result in the presence of residues of the product in the edible parts;
 - their use may be restricted to specific conditions, specific regions or specific commodities;
- c) if they are used as additives or processing aids in the preparation or preservation of the food :
 - these substances are used only if it has been shown that, without having recourse to them, it is impossible to:
 - produce or preserve the food, in the case of additives, or
 - produce the food, in the case of processing aids
 in the absence of other available technology that satisfies these Guidelines;
 - these substances are found in nature and may have undergone mechanical/physical processes (e.g. extraction, precipitation), biological/enzymatic processes and microbial processes (e.g. fermentation),
 - or, if these substances mentioned above are not available from such methods and technologies in sufficient quantities, then those substances that have been chemically synthesized may be considered for inclusion in exceptional circumstances;
 - their use maintains the authenticity of the product;
 - the consumer will not be deceived concerning the nature, substance and quality of the food;

¹⁴ The use of chemical processes in the context of these Criteria is an interim measure and should be reviewed.

- the additives and processing aids do not detract from the overall quality of the product.
- d) if they are used for the purpose of cleaning and disinfection of ponds, cages, buildings and installations used for aquaculture animal production :
 - they should be essential for the control of a harmful organism or a particular disease for which other biological, physical, or breeding alternatives and/or effective management practices are not available;
 - and
 - their use should take into account the potential harmful impact on the environment, the ecology (in particular non-target organisms), aquatic organisms and the health of consumers, aquaculture animals
 - and
 - substances should be of plant, animal, microbial, or mineral origin and may undergo the following processes: physical (e.g. mechanical, thermal), enzymatic, microbial (e.g. composting, digestion);
 - their use may be restricted to specific conditions, specific regions or specific commodities;

In the evaluation process of substances for inclusion on lists all stakeholders should have the opportunity to be involved.

- 5.2 Countries should develop or adopt a list of substances that meet the criteria outlined in Section 5.1.
- 5.2 — If these substances mentioned above are not available from such methods and technologies in sufficient quantities, then those substances that have been chemically synthesized may be considered for inclusion in exceptional circumstances.

SECTION 6. INSPECTION AND CERTIFICATION SYSTEMS¹⁵

6.1 Inspection and certification systems are used to verify the labelling of, and claims for, organically produced foods. Development of these systems should take into account the *Principles for Food Import and Export Inspection and Certification*¹⁶, the *Guideline for the Design, Operation, Assessment and Accreditation of Food Import and Export Inspection and Certification Systems*.^{17,18}

- 6.2 Competent authorities should establish an inspection system operated by one or more designated authorities and/or officially recognized inspection/certification¹⁹ bodies to which the operators producing, preparing or importing products as referred to in paragraph 1.1 should be subject.
- 6.3 The officially recognized inspection and certification systems should comprise at least the application of the measures and other precautions set out in Annex 3.
- 6.4 For the application of the inspection system operated by the official or officially recognized certification body or authority, countries should identify a competent authority responsible for the approval and supervision of such bodies:
- the identified competent authority may delegate, while maintaining the responsibility for the decisions and actions taken, the assessment and supervision of private inspection and certification bodies to a private or public third party hereafter referred to as its “designate”. If delegated, the private or public third party should not be engaged in inspection and/or certification;
 - for this purpose an importing country may recognize a third party accrediting body when the exporting country lacks an identified competent authority and a national program.
- 6.5 In order to attain approval as an officially recognized certification body or authority, the competent authority, or its designate, when making its assessment should take into account the following:
- a) the standard inspection/certification procedures to be followed, including detailed description of the inspection measures and precautions which the body undertakes to impose on operators subject to inspection;
 - b) the penalties which the body intends to apply where irregularities and/or infringements are found;

¹⁵ The systems conducted by certification bodies may in some countries be equivalent to those systems conducted by inspection bodies. Therefore, the term “inspection and certification” has been used wherever these systems may be synonymous.

¹⁶ CAC/GL 20-1995.

¹⁷ CAC/GL 26-1997.

¹⁸ See also other agreed international standards, e.g. ISO65.

¹⁹ In organic approval processes reference is frequently made to certification performed by either a ‘certification body’ or an ‘inspection body’. Where these functions are conducted by the same body there must be clear separation of the inspection and certification roles.

- c) the availability of appropriate resources in the form of qualified staff, administrative and technical facilities, inspection experience and reliability;
 - d) the objectivity of the body vis-à-vis the operators subject to inspection.
- 6.6 The competent authority or its designate should:
- a) ensure that the inspections carried out on behalf of the inspection or certification body are objective;
 - b) verify the effectiveness of inspections;
 - c) take cognizance of any irregularities and/or infringements found and penalties applied;
 - d) withdraw approval of the certification body or authority where it fails to satisfy the requirements referred to in (a) and (b) or, no longer fulfils the criteria indicated in paragraph 6.5 or, fails to satisfy the requirements laid down in paragraphs 6.7 to 6.9.
- 6.7 Official and/or officially recognized certification bodies or authority referred to in paragraph 6.2 should:
- a) ensure that at least the inspection measures and precautions specified in Annex 3 are applied to undertakings subject to inspection; and
 - b) not disclose confidential information and data obtained in their inspection or certification activities to persons other than the person responsible for the undertaking concerned and the competent authorities.
- 6.7' ~~During registration of the aquaculture farm/seaweed or other unit or algae collection unit by the accredited certifying agency, the producer has to present an annual organic management plan to the accredited certifying agency, for verification during the inspection. The plan is required to be updated annually (11).~~
- 6.8 Official or officially recognized inspection and/or certification bodies or authority should:
- a) give the competent authority or its designate, for audit purposes, access to their offices and facilities and, for random audit of its operators, access to the facilities of the operators, together with any information and assistance deemed necessary by the competent authority or its designate for the fulfilment of its obligations pursuant to these guidelines;
 - b) send to the competent authority or its designate each year a list of operators subject to inspection for the previous year and present to the said authority a concise annual report.
- 6.9 The designated authority and the official or officially recognized certification body or authority referred to in paragraph 6.2 should:
- a) ensure that, where an irregularity is found in the implementation of Sections 3 and 4, or of the measures referred to in Annex 3, the indications provided for in paragraph 1.2 referring to the organic production method are removed from the entire lot or production run affected by the irregularity concerned;
 - b) where a manifest infringement, or an infringement with prolonged effects is found, prohibit the operator concerned from marketing products with indications referring to the organic production method for a period to be agreed with the competent authority or its designate.
- 6.10 The requirements of the *Guidelines for the Exchange of Information between Countries on Rejections of Imported Food*²⁰ should apply where the competent authority finds irregularities and/or infringements in the application of these guidelines.

SECTION 7. IMPORTS

- 7.1 Products as specified in paragraph 1.1 which are imported may be marketed only where the competent authority or designated body in the exporting country has issued a certificate of inspection stating that the lot designated in the certificate was obtained within a system of production, preparation, marketing and inspection applying at least the rules provided for in all sections and annexes of these guidelines and satisfy the decision on equivalency referred to under 7.4.
- 7.2 The certificate referred to in paragraph 7.1 above should accompany the goods, in the original copy, to the premises of the first consignee; thereafter the importer should keep the transactional certificate for not less than two years for inspection/audit purposes.
- 7.3 The authenticity of the product should be maintained after import through to the consumer. If imports of organic products are not in conformity with the requirements of these guidelines due to treatment required by national regulations for quarantine purposes that is not in conformity with these guidelines they lose their organic status.
- 7.4 An importing country may:

²⁰ CAC/GL 25-1997.

-
- a) require detailed information, including reports established by independent experts mutually agreed between competent authorities of the exporting and importing countries, on the measures applied in the exporting country to enable it to make judgements and decisions on equivalency with its own rules provided that these rules of the importing country meet the requirements of these guidelines, and/or
 - b) arrange together with the exporting country for site visits to examine the rules of production and preparation, and the inspection/certification measures including production and preparation itself as applied in the exporting country.
 - c) require, in order to avoid any confusion to the consumer, that the product is labelled in accordance with the labelling requirements applied, in accordance with the provisions of section 3, in the importing country for the products concerned.

ANNEX 1 PRINCIPLES OF ORGANIC PRODUCTION

A.1 PLANTS AND PLANT PRODUCTS

1. The principles set out in this Annex should have been applied on the parcels, farm or farm units during a conversion period of at least two years before sowing, or in the case of perennial crops other than grassland, at least three (3) years before the first harvest of products as referred to in paragraph 1.1(a) of these guidelines. The competent authority, or where delegated, the official or officially recognized certification body or authority may decide in certain cases (such as idle use for two years or more) to extend or reduce that period in the light of previous parcel use but the period must equal or exceed 12 months.
2. Whatever the length of the conversion period it may only begin once a production unit has been placed under an inspection system as required by 6.2 and once the unit has started the implementation of the production rules referred to in Section 4 of these Guidelines.
3. In cases where a whole farm is not converted at one time, it may be done progressively whereby these guidelines are applied from the start of conversion on the relevant fields. Conversion from conventional to organic production should be effected using permitted techniques as defined in these guidelines. In cases where a whole farm is not converted at the same time, the holding must be split into units as referred to in Annex 3, part A, paragraphs 3 and 11.
4. Areas in conversion as well as areas converted to organic production must not be alternated (switched back and forth) between organic and conventional production methods.
5. The fertility and biological activity of the soil should be maintained or increased, where appropriate, by:
 - a) cultivation of legumes, green manures or deep-rooting plants in an appropriate multi-annual rotation programme;
 - b) incorporation in the soil of organic material, composted or not, from holdings producing in accordance with these guidelines. By-products from livestock farming, such as farmyard manure, may be used if they come from livestock holdings producing in accordance with these guidelines;

Substances, as specified in Annex 2, Table 1 may be applied only to the extent that adequate nutrition of the crop or soil conditioning are not possible by the methods set out in 5(a) and (b) above or, in the case of manures, they are not available from organic farming.

 - c) for compost activation, appropriate micro-organisms or plant-based preparations may be used;
 - d) biodynamic preparations from stone meal, farmyard manure or plants may also be used for the purpose covered by paragraph 5.
6. Pests, diseases and weeds should be controlled by any one, or a combination, of the following measures:
 - choice of appropriate species and varieties;
 - appropriate rotation programs;
 - mechanical cultivation;
 - protection of natural enemies of pests through provision of favourable habitat, such as hedges and nesting sites, ecological buffer zones which maintain the original vegetation to house pest predators;
 - diversified ecosystems. These will vary between geographical locations. For example, buffer zones to counteract erosion, agro-forestry, rotating crops, etc.
 - flame weeding;
 - natural enemies including release of predators and parasites;
 - biodynamic preparations from stone meal, farmyard manure or plants;
 - mulching and mowing;
 - grazing of animals;
 - mechanical controls such as traps, barriers, light and sound;
 - steam sterilization when proper rotation of soil renewal cannot take place.
7. Only in cases of imminent or serious threat to the crop and where the measures identified in 6. (above) are, or would not be effective, recourse may be had to products referred to in Annex 2.
8. Seeds and vegetative reproductive material should be from plants grown in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.1 of these guidelines for at least one generation or, in the case of perennial crops, two growing

seasons. Where an operator can demonstrate to the official or officially recognized certification body or authority that material satisfying the above requirements is not available, the certification body or authority may support:

- a) in the first instance, use of untreated seeds or vegetative reproductive material, or
- b) if (a) is not available, use of seeds and vegetative reproductive material treated with substances other than those included in Annex 2.

The competent authority may establish criteria to limit the application of the derogation in 8 above.

9. The collection of edible plants and parts thereof, growing naturally in natural areas, forests and agricultural areas, close to the seashore or bordering other aquatic environments, is considered an organic production method provided that:
 - the products are from a clearly defined collection area that is subject to the inspection/certification measures set out in Section 6 of these guidelines;
 - those areas have received no treatments with products other than those referred to in Annex 2 for a period of three years before the collection;
 - the collection does not disturb the stability of the natural habitat or the maintenance of the species in the collection area;
 - the products are from an operator managing the harvesting or gathering of the products, who is clearly identified and familiar with the collection area.

A.2 SEaweEDS AND SEaweED OTHER ALGAE AND THEIR PRODUCTS

(Numbering of A2 to be integrated into Guideline's sequence eventually)

1. ~~[This section applies to seaweed and kelps and other algae in addition to phytoplankton and microalgae for use as direct or indirect feed for aquaculture animals. Member countries are free to develop criteria outside the scope of these Guidelines for organic production of phytoplankton and microalgae for food use. The Guidelines may be revised in future to include criteria for phytoplankton and microalgae for use as food].~~
2. ~~The operation and management of the production of organic seaweed and other algae production, whether in containment systems or not, should respect be consistent with the principles of organic farming. The biodiversity of the aquatic environment and the quality of the surrounding water should be maintained~~
3. Harvested ~~seaweed and other algae~~ can be sold as organically produced when these Guidelines have been complied with. The criteria for site ~~selectioning~~ of aquaculture animal units in Section B2 of these guidelines should be applied as appropriate **to production units for seaweed and other algae production units**. The criteria for conversion of plant and plant products in these guidelines (Annex I.A, 1-4) should be applied as appropriate to ~~seaweed/other algae~~ production units. If a competent authority agrees to a conversion period shorter than 12 months, it should be at least the length of a production cycle.
4. Both farming and collection of ~~seaweed and other algae~~ should be carried out in areas which meet the criteria of paragraph 4 and 6 of Section B2. An organic management plan should be developed and implemented ~~and subjected to by means of annual update/revision by all producers of all organic seaweed and other algae producers~~ to guide the operation of the production unit in keeping the impact on the environment low and setting out monitoring to be done to ensure that this aim is achieved each year.
5. The collection of edible ~~seaweeds and other algae~~ and parts thereof, growing naturally in the **sea aquatic environment** is considered an organic production method provided that the four conditions of Annex 1.A, paragraph 9 are met.

6. To maintain good quality ~~growing planting~~ material, the collection in the wild should be done in a sustainable manner.
7. Farming should be carried out in a sustainable manner at all stages from collection of seedlings in the wild to harvesting. The application of supplementary fertiliser using natural organic compounds to the growing area should be restricted to pond cultivation. ~~[and to substances listed in Annex 2, (Brazilian request), Table x]~~. Ropes and other equipment used for growing seaweed should be re-used or re-cycled where possible. Removal of bio-fouling organisms should be by physical means **only**.
8. The operator should maintain detailed and up-to-date records as set out in Annex 3, paragraphs 7 – 15, where the terms livestock should be taken to read ~~seaweed stock or other algae stock algae~~.

B.2 AQUACULTURE ANIMALS AND THEIR PRODUCTS

(Numbering of B2 to be integrated into Guideline's sequence eventually)

General principles

1. The operation and management of aquaculture production, whether in containment systems or not, should be consistent with the principles of organic production and the Codex Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products, Section 6 and 7(CAC/RCP 52-2003) as appropriate. (IR)

~~1. Aquaculture is an important activity that contributes to the global supply of fish and other seafood species. Fishery products are important in terms of world trade and the aquaculture component is becoming increasingly important as time goes on.~~

~~2. The operation and management of aquaculture production, whether in containment systems or not, should respect **be consistent with** (US) the principles of organic production. The biodiversity of the aquatic environment and the quality of the surrounding water should be maintained.~~

3. Aquaculture operators must maintain on an ongoing basis an organic management plan, to guide the operation of the production unit, particularly regarding environmental issues, so as to maintain or improve the natural resources of the operation. This should be developed and implemented and subjected to **anby means of annual updaterevision by all producers to guide the operation of the production unit in keeping and keep the impact on the environment low and set out a monitoring programme to ensure that this aim is achieved each year. The plan should cover nutrient discharge, if applicable, and the repair and surveillance of technical equipment. The Organic Management Plan should document how monitoring is done to ensure there is minimal impact to the surrounding environment. The plan should cover nutrient discharge, if applicable, and the repair and surveillance of equipment. **The organic management plan may could (may – IFGAM) also include a risk based water quality monitoring scheme for early detection of****

potential contaminants from unlikely events such as an oil spill or other potential contamination of the harvest area. (AU)

Siting Site Selection

4'. The relevant conditions listed for site selection the growing water quality in Section 6.1.12 of the Codex Code of practice for fish and fishery products should apply. The production area should have characteristics which allow the production of safe products of high quality without unacceptable while minimizing (US) negative environmental impacts on surrounding natural ecosystems. Production facilities should be located in areas where the risk of contamination is minimized and where sources of pollution are unlikely and can be controlled or mitigated. The boundaries of the production unit should be clearly defined and marked appropriately.

5. The conditions listed for the growing water quality in Section 6.1.2 of the Codex Code of practice for fish and fishery products should apply.

4. 5. Water used for aquaculture should meet the physiological requirements of the species (AR) and be of a quality suitable for the production of food which is safe for human consumption and therefore Waste water from domestic or industrial sources should not be used in accordance with the FAO Technical Guidelines for Aquaculture Certification, 2011.

5'. Substances permitted for use as fertilizers and conditioners in the cultivation of aquaculture animals (fish and shellfish) are listed in Annex 2, Table 1'.

6. The certification body or authority must ensure at the outset that the location of the production unit is suitable by conducting a risk analysis an assessment (TH & AR) of potential sources of contamination with contaminants or by (UK) substances unacceptable to organic production systems. Buffer zones within or between farms should be established by competent authorities, where necessary, to separate organic and non-organic production units.

Conversion period [for operations] (for discussion at physical WG, 5/2013)

7. The conversion period should in general be at least one production cycle of the stock aquatic species year. In cases where the water has been drained and the facility cleaned and disinfected with permitted cleaning materials, a shorter period of six months a conversion period e may apply. is not required. In the case of non-enclosed marine aquatic locations a shorter period of three months may apply provided that cages (net pens) have not been treated with prohibited antifoulants and there are no other sources of exposure to prohibited substances. During the conversion period the stock should not be subject to treatments or exposed to products which are not permitted for the production of organic foods. Production areas that have contact with the soil must not have had any prohibited substances applied for at least three years prior to first harvest.

Origin of stock

9. 8. Breeds adapted to local conditions shall be chosen. It is preferable that locally grown aquatic species be used for organic farming production (AR) where possible. The species should be able to adapt to local conditions and selection Selection criteria should include their vitality and resistance to pests and diseases. Following the conversion period if organic aquaculture animals are not available, young juvenile non-organic aquaculture stock may be introduced for on-growing, provided that the latter two thirds of their production cycle or 90% of their final biomass is under

organic management and providing the stock is healthy. ~~alternative suggestion for consideration by eWG: When organic juveniles are not available, the certifying body would prescribe a time limit and percentage of non-organic juveniles for use according to the production of the species.~~ Breeding stock should come from organic production units, where the parent stock have been under organic management for at least three months prior to breeding. ~~For crustaceans, in cases where organic breeding stock is not available, wild caught parent stock may be used, provided that they are kept under organic management before breeding.~~

10. ~~[When organic juveniles are not available, the Competent Authority may prescribe a time limit and percentage of non-organic juveniles, including wild sources, for use according to the production of the species. For bivalve shellfish, seed juveniles may be wild-harvested from outside of the production area, provided such harvesting is permitted by legislation the competent authority (BR), and records are kept to allow it be tracked back to the collection area. For species that cannot spawn naturally in captivity spawning may be induced using exogenous releasing hormones only if other methods are not available. Brood stock treated with releasing hormone shall lose organic status when slaughtered, the offspring will be organic if they have been raised according to this guideline. Genetically modified organisms (GMOs) [and stock treated/produced using hormones must not be used].]~~

Production rules for husbandry and breeding

9. The production unit should provide sufficient space for the animals' needs in terms of stocking density, ~~in numbers per cubic metre, or per square metre of surface area, as most appropriate for the species concerned.~~ They aquatic animals should be provided with ~~good quality~~ ~~good quality~~ ~~clean~~ water with a flow rate and temperature which ~~is suitable~~ ~~meets~~ ~~to~~ the **physiological** requirements of the species with sufficient oxygen and, in the case of filter feeding animals, other nutritional factors for their needs. The temperature and light conditions should be suitable for the species concerned in the particular geographic location of the production unit. When netting is used it should be kept clean by physical means. ~~or by hand.~~

10. **Maximum stocking density should be reflective of the natural behaviour of species and in keeping with good welfare and in general be lower than that used in conventional farming (IT).** ~~[Competent authorities, or other recognised bodies (AR), shall (may (JP)) develop and publicise guide values for maximum densities for the species grown under their authority, which are reflective of the natural behaviour of the species involved and in keeping with good welfare.]~~

11. Containment systems, when used, including cages (net pens) should be designed, constructed, located and operated to suit the requirements of the species cultivated, ~~and~~ minimize the risk of escapes and other negative environmental impacts and **to** (UK) prevent the entry of predatory species.

12. ~~[Closed recirculation systems are prohibited except when used as hatcheries or nurseries or for production of species used as organic feed on account of the fact that such systems depend on~~

external energy inputs and are high in energy consumption. As they have some positive features, such as reduction of waste discharges and prevention of escapes, this prohibition may be reviewed at a future date [alternative: in five years], as greater knowledge becomes available on their environmental viability and compatibility with organic production. Or

The Competent Authority should decide whether or not to approve closed recirculation systems after a thorough examination and evaluation of the total environmental viability and compatibility with organic production]

13. Breeding should reflect the natural situation as closely as possible, in terms of ambient conditions, using appropriate strains for the type of farming. Manual sorting or selection, manual stripping of gametes and artificial incubation of eggs is allowed.

Artificial polyploidy, cloning, [artificial hybridization and use of single sex strains are prohibited].

~~14.[Competent authorities or other recognised bodies (AR) shall also develop and publicise criteria for aquaculture production systems, with particular reference to type of system, water flow, oxygen saturation and effluent elimination and if necessary, following.]~~

Nutrition

15.—

14. Operators should design a feeding plan that takes the following factors into account: ~~Where feed is used, aquaculture operations should include procedures for avoiding~~

a) ~~feed contamination should be avoided in compliance with national regulations or as determined by internationally agreed standards and a precautionary approach should be taken to avoid disease transmission via feedstuffs;~~

b) ~~The feedstuffs should meet the animal's nutritional requirements at the various stages of its development with organic or natural feeds;~~

c) ~~Plant material used in aquaculture feed must should be organically grown and should always meet the requirements of these guidelines; [except under conditions of para 15' below]~~

d) feedstuffs should contribute to good health and animal welfare;

e) the quality and nutritional composition of the feed should contribute to reaching high level of quality for the final edible product;

f) additional feeding should have an minimum environmental impact;

e) use of growth promoters or synthetic amino acids is not permitted.

~~[Carnivorous fish should not be fed material from the same species/family.] nor a totally plant based diet to ensure their physiological needs are met and to ensure good welfare~~

Regarding feeds for carnivorous aquaculture animals:

a) they should be provided according to the following order of priority;

a.1) organic feed products of aquaculture origin

a.2) fishmeal and fish oil and ingredients derived from organic aquaculture trimmings

a.3) fishmeal and fish oil derived from trimmings of fish caught for human consumption in sustainable fisheries

a.4) organic feed material of plant or animal origin.

When the above-mentioned feeds are not available, fishmeal and fish oil derived from conventional aquaculture trimmings may be used, or for a limited period:

a.5) organic feed material of non-aquatic origin as allowed by national legislation;

b) the ration may include up to 60% of organic plant material;

c) dead animals from any aquaculture production system should not be used when their death was due to disease or unknown causes

a. The aquatic animal based portion of the feed should be made from fish meal and fish oil, or ingredients of fish origin, or from organic feed material of non-aquatic origin, derived from the following sources in priority order:

— organically grown aquatic animals and their trimmings, or

— trimmings of fish caught for human consumption in sustainable fisheries, or

— fish and invertebrates caught in sustainable fisheries, or

— organic feed material of non-aquatic origin as allowed by national legislation

— [Alternative text suggested by Argentina:

— When designing the diet plan the operator must consider:

— a) foods that contribute to good health and animal welfare

— b) that the animals are fed in sufficient quantity and with organic feed and / or natural quality, according to production systems that meet their nutritional needs for different stages of development.

— c) that the quality of food and their nutritional composition contribute to high end product quality and edibility;

— d) to minimize the environmental impact

— The animals are fed with natural feed in the production environment. If this is not available in sufficient quantity and quality, feed may be used, provided they are organic, which may include ingredients of plant, animal and / or mineral origin.

— No use of growth factors or synthetic amino acids is permitted.

— No use of any dead animals from aquaculture production system feed, when his death was due to disease or unknown causes.]

15 : If substances are used as feedstuffs, nutritional elements, feed additives or processing aids or in the preparation of feedstuffs for aquaculture animals, the competent authority shall establish a positive list of substances in compliance with the criteria of Section B1, para. 18. (IR, GR). [Where feed additives or, only where there is an absence of organic feed materials an amount of non-organic feed ingredients below 2% of the dry matter of the feed, are needed in order to meet aquaculture animal's nutritional requirements and in order to ensure good animal welfare these should by preference originate from natural ingredients. Only in the absence of suitable natural additives may chemically synthesized additives be permitted. All additives or non-organic feed ingredients may

only be used with the permission of the certification body or authority and evidence of their need should be provided.](UK & FR);

15)]Notwithstanding the above, where an operator can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the official or officially recognized inspection/certification body that feedstuffs satisfying the requirement outlined in paragraph 14 above are not available, as a result of, for example, unforeseen severe natural or man-made events or extreme climatic weather conditions, the inspection/certification body may allow a restricted percentage of feedstuffs not produced according to these guidelines to be fed for a limited time, providing it does not contain genetically engineered/modified organisms or products thereof. The competent authority shall set both the maximum percentage of non-organic feed allowed and any conditions relating to this derogation](TH, BR & UK).

Health and welfare

16. Disease prevention in organic aquaculture ~~shall~~ ~~may~~ (US) ~~should~~ be based on guidelines and standards set by the OIE and the principles and practices for health care of livestock (terrestrial animals) in these guidelines, specifically Annex I, B.1, paragraphs, 20, 21, 22 and 24 and on the following additional points:

- ensuring that the siting and design of the production unit is optimal and that there is regular cleaning and disinfection of premises with organic disinfectant permitted substances (US) where appropriate.
- ~~Alternative natural and homeopathic medicines treatments should be used by preference should~~ shall be used in preference to chemical allopathic veterinary drugs or antibiotics, ~~if~~ provided that their therapeutic effect is effective for the species of animal and the condition for which the treatment is intended.](NO)
- to control ectoparasites such as sealice, **appropriate production methods (and cleaner fish if available)** (CA) natural processes, such as the use of predatory species of ectoparasites (e.g. cleaner fish) ~~[alternative more general wording: appropriate production methods]~~ should be used where possible, rather than parasiticides. Parasite treatments should be limited to twice ~~[query this limit (JP)]~~ per year, with the exception of compulsory control schemes.
- the use of allopathic treatments **veterinary medicines** (Chair) should be limited to two ~~[query this limit (JP too low; BR should be one)]~~ courses of treatment per year, with the exception of vaccines and compulsory eradication schemes. If the specified limits are exceeded the aquaculture animals concerned should not be sold as organic.

17. Hormonal treatment should not be used. See final sentence of 8 above.

Harvesting and Transport

17. Harvesting should be carried out with reference to the Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products (Section 6.3.4 of CAC/RCP 52-2003). Guidelines and standards set by the OIE ~~should~~ ~~may~~ (US) be the specific normative basis for transport. The provisions on holding and transport in aquaculture production of the Codex Code of Practice for Fish and Fishery Products (Section 6.3.5 of CAC/RCP 52-2003) should also apply.

Live fish aquatic animals (TH) should be transported in suitable containers with clean water, which meets their physiological needs in terms of temperature and dissolved oxygen. Before use, tanks should be thoroughly cleaned, disinfected and rinsed. Precautions should be taken to reduce stress during transport, in particular regarding the density.

Slaughter

18. Guidelines and standards set by the OIE should ~~{(may (US))}~~ be the specific normative base. Live (TH & AR) aquaculture animals should be handled in such a way as to avoid unnecessary stress. Slaughter techniques should render fish immediately unconscious and insensible to pain.

Inspection

19. The operator should maintain detailed and up-to-date records and meet the relevant requirements of Annex 3 for inspection purposes.

C. HANDLING, STORAGE, TRANSPORTATION, PROCESSING AND PACKAGING

82. The integrity of the organic product must be maintained throughout the processing phase. This is achieved by the use of techniques appropriate to the specifics of the ingredients with careful processing methods limiting refining and the use of additives and processing aids. Ionizing radiation should not be used on organic products for the purpose of pest control, food preservation, elimination of pathogens or sanitation. Ethylene may be used for ripening of kiwifruit and bananas.

Pest management

83. For pest management and control the following measures, in order of preference, should be used:
- Preventative methods, such as disruption and elimination of habitat and access to facilities by pest organisms, should be the primary methodology of pest management;
 - If preventative methods are inadequate, the first choice for pest control should be mechanical/physical and biological methods;
 - If mechanical/physical and biological methods are inadequate for pest control, pesticidal substances appearing in Annex 2 table 2 (or other substances allowed for use by a competent authority in accordance with Section 5.2) may be used provided that they are accepted for use in handling, storage, transportation or processing facilities by the competent authority and so that contact with organic products is prevented.
84. Pests should be avoided by good manufacturing practice. Pest control measures within storage areas or transport containers may include physical barriers or other treatments such as sound, ultra-sound, light, ultra-violet light, traps (pheromone traps and static bait traps) controlled temperature, controlled atmosphere (carbon dioxide, oxygen, nitrogen), and diatomaceous earth.
85. Use of pesticides not listed in Annex 2 for post harvest or quarantine purposes should not be permitted on products prepared in accordance with these guidelines and would cause organically produced foods to lose their organic status.

Processing and manufacturing

86. Processing methods should be mechanical, physical or biological (such as fermentation and smoking) and minimize the use of non-agricultural ingredients and additives as listed in Annex 2, Tables 3 and 4.

Packaging

87. Packaging materials should preferably be chosen from bio-degradable, recycled or recyclable sources.

Storage and transport

88. Product integrity should be maintained during any storage and transportation and handling by use of the following precautions:
- Organic products must be protected at all times from co-mingling with non-organic products; and
 - Organic products must be protected at all times from contact with materials and substances not permitted for use in organic farming and handling.
89. Where only part of the unit is certified, other product not covered by these guidelines should be stored and handled separately and both types of products should be clearly identified.

90. Bulk stores for organic product should be separate from conventional product stores and clearly labelled to that effect.
91. Storage areas and transport containers for organic product should be cleaned using methods and materials permitted in organic production. Measures should be taken to prevent possible contamination from any pesticide or other treatment not listed in Annex 2 before using a storage area or container that is not dedicated solely to organic products.

ANNEX 2

PERMITTED SUBSTANCES FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ORGANIC FOODS

PRECAUTIONS

1. Any substances used in an organic system for soil fertilization and conditioning, pest and disease control, for the health of livestock and aquaculture animals and quality of the animal products, or for preparation, preservation and storage of the food product should comply with the relevant national regulations.
2. Conditions for use of certain substances contained in the following lists may be specified by the certification body or authority, e.g. volume, frequency of application, specific purpose, etc.
3. Where substances are required for primary production they should be used with care and with the knowledge that even permitted substances may be subject to misuse and may alter the ecosystem of the soil or farm.
4. The following lists do not attempt to be all inclusive or exclusive, or a finite regulatory tool but rather provide advice to governments on internationally agreed inputs. A system of review criteria as detailed in Section 5 of these Guidelines for products to be considered by national governments should be the primary determinant for acceptability or rejection of substances.

TABLE 1

SUBSTANCES FOR USE IN SOIL FERTILIZING AND CONDITIONING

[Annex 2, Table 1'. Agricultural inputs used for fertilizers and conditioners of aquaculture pond (suggested by Thailand)

<u>Substances</u>	<u>Details/specific conditions</u>
<u>1. Lists of permitted organic substances</u>	
<u>1.1 Organic fertilizer made from organic materials; compost of crop residues, straw, sawdust, bark, wood waste, and other agricultural by-products</u>	<u>- If substances are not from organic sources, they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority. Inorganic substances added to provide plant nutrients such as phosphate rock shall be permitted substances.</u>
<u>1.2 Manure</u>	<u>- If substances are not from organic sources, they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority</u>
<u>1.3 Green manure, fresh crop residues and residual material of organic nature used in the farm</u>	<u>- If substances are not from organic sources, they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority</u>
<u>1.4 Leftover products from slaughterhouses and industries such as</u>	<u>- Synthetic substances shall not be added and</u>

<u>sugar factories, tapioca factories, and fish sauce factories</u>	<u>they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority</u>
<u>1.5 [Growth control] substances for aquatic organisms, those free from synthetic substances</u>	<u>- If substances are not from organic sources, they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority</u>
<u>1.6 Bacteria, molds, and enzymes</u>	<u>- If substances are not from organic sources, they need to be recognized by certification body or competent authority</u>
<u>2. Lists of permitted inorganic substances</u>	
<u>2.1 Phosphate rock</u>	-
<u>2.2 Ground limestone (In calcite or dolomite form, it is prohibited to use baked dolomite)</u>	-
<u>2.3 Calcium silicate</u>	-
<u>2.4 Sodium silicate</u>	-
<u>2.5 Magnesium sulfate</u>	-
<u>2.6 Clay minerals such as smectite, kaolinite, Chlorite, etc</u>	-
<u>2.7 Perlite, zeolite, and bentonite</u>	-
<u>2.8 Rock potash, mined, potassium salt with less than 60% chloride</u>	-
<u>2.9 Calcium from seaweed</u>	-
<u>2.10 Seashells</u>	-
<u>2.11 Potassium sulphate produced by physical processes</u>	-
<u>2.12 Rock salt</u>	-
<u>2.13 [Oxygen]</u>	-

TABLE 2
SUBSTANCES FOR PLANT PEST AND DISEASE CONTROL

TABLE 2'

CLEANING AND DISINFECTANT TREATMENTS APPROVED FOR ORGANIC AQUACULTURE

2'.1 Substances for cleaning and disinfection of equipment and facilities, in the absence of aquaculture animals: —

<u>Ozone</u>
<u>Sodium chloride</u>
<u>Sodium hypochlorite</u>
<u>Calcium hypochlorite</u>
<u>Lime (CaO, calcium oxide)</u>
<u>Caustic soda</u>
<u>Alcohol</u>
<u>Hydrogen peroxide</u>
<u>Organic acids (acetic acid, lactic acid, citric acid)</u>
<u>Humic acid</u>
<u>Peroxyacetic acids</u>
<u>Iodophores</u>
<u>Copper sulphate: [only until 31 December 2015 or alternative agreed date]—</u>
<u>Potassium permanganate</u>
<u>Peracetic and peroctanoic acids</u>
<u>Tea seed cake made of natural camelia seed (use restricted to shrimp production)</u>

2'.2. Limited list of substances for use in the presence of aquaculture animals: —

<u>Limestone (Calcium carbonate) for pH control</u>
<u>dolomite for pH correction (use restricted to shrimp production).</u>

Additional proposal from Thailand:

2. Substances for pest and disease control for aquaculture in the absence of animals (AA) or in the presence of animals (PA)

<u>Substances</u>	<u>Details/specific conditions</u>
<u>1. Tea meal (AA)</u>	=
<u>2. Rotenone (AA)</u>	=
<u>3. Potassium permanganate (PA) – listed above</u>	<u>- only allowed in the hatching stage with an advice from fishery biologist or veterinarian</u>
<u>4. Hydrogen peroxide (PA) - listed above</u>	
<u>5. Povidone iodine (PA)</u>	

TABLE 3
**INGREDIENTS OF NON-AGRICULTURAL ORIGIN REFERRED TO IN SECTION 3
 OF THESE GUIDELINES**

3.1 Additives permitted for use under specified conditions in certain organic food categories or individual food items

The following table provides a list of those food additives including carriers which are allowed for use in organic food production. The functional uses and food categories and individual food items for each food additive in the following table are governed by the provisions in Tables 1–3 of the *General Standard for Food Additives* and other standards which have been adopted by the Codex Alimentarius Commission.

The table is an indicative list for the purpose of processing organic food only. Countries may develop a list of substances for national purposes that satisfy the requirements as recommended in Section 5.2 of these Guidelines.

Food additives in this Table can be used to perform the function indicated in the specified food products.

INS no.	Additive name	Functional use allowed in organic production	Permitted for use in food categories	
			Food of plant origin	Food of animal origin
170i	Calcium Carbonate	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
220	Sulphur Dioxide	All	14.2.2 Cider and perry 14.2.3 Grape wines 14.2.4 Wines (other than grapes)	14.2.5 Mead
270	Lactic Acid (L- D- and DL-)	All	04.2.2.7 Fermented vegetable (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes and aloe vera), and seaweed products, excluding fermented soybean products of food category 12.10	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0 08.4 Edible casings (e.g. sausage casings)
290	Carbon Dioxide	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.
296	Malic Acid (DL-)	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Not permitted.
300	Ascorbic Acid	All	Provided insufficient natural sources are available. Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Provided insufficient natural sources are available. 08.2 Processed meat, poultry, and game products in whole pieces or cuts 08.3 Processed comminuted meat, poultry, and game products 08.4 Edible casings (e.g., sausage casings)
307	Tocopherols (mixed natural concentrates)	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	All mixed products allowed under the General Standard for Food Additives and Standards adopted by the Codex Alimentarius Commission
322	Lecithins (obtained without bleaches and organic solvents.)	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0 02.0 Fats and oils, and fat emulsions 12.6.1 Emulsified sauces (e.g. mayonnaise, salad dressing) 13.1 Infant formulae and follow-on formulae 13.2 Complementary foods for infants and young children
327	Calcium Lactate	All	Not permitted.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
330	Citric Acid	All	04.0 Fruits and vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds, and nuts and seeds	As a coagulation agent for specific cheese products and for cooked eggs 01.6 Cheese and analogues 02.1 Fats and oils essentially free from water 10.0 Egg and egg products
331i	Sodium Dihydrogen Citrate	All	Not permitted.	01.1.1.2 Butter milk (plain) (Stabilizer only) 01.1.2 Dairy-based drinks, flavoured and/or fermented (e.g., chocolate milk, cocoa, eggnog, drinking yoghurt, whey-based drinks) 01.2.1.2 Fermented milks (plain), heat-treated after fermentation (Stabilizer only) 01.2.2

INS no.	Additive name	Functional use allowed in organic production	Permitted for use in food categories	
			Food of plant origin	Food of animal origin
				Renneted milk (Stabilizer only) 01.3 Condensed milk and analogues (plain) (Stabilizer only) 01.4 Cream (plain) and the like (Stabilizer only) 01.5.1 Milk powder and cream powder (plain) (Stabilizer only) 01.6.1 Unripened cheese (Stabilizer only) 01.6.4 Processed cheese (Emulsifier only) 01.8.2 Dried whey and whey products, excluding whey cheeses 08.3 Processed comminuted meat, poultry, and game products, restricted to sausages To be used in pasteurization of egg whites only in the following: 10.2 Egg Products
332i	Potassium Dihydrogen Citrate	All	Not permitted.	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.
333	Calcium Citrates	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
334	Tartaric Acid	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Not permitted.
335i 335ii	Monosodium Tartrate Disodium Tartrate	All	05.0 Confectionery 07.2.1 Cakes	Not permitted.
336i 336ii	Monopotassium Tartrate Dipotassium Tartrate	All	05.0 Confectionery 06.2 Flours and starches 07.2.1 Cakes	Not permitted.
341i	Monocalcium Orthophosphate	All	06.2.1 Flours	Not permitted.
400	Alginic Acid	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
401	Sodium Alginate	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0 All mixed products allowed under the <i>General Standard for Food Additives</i> and Standards adopted by the Codex Alimentarius Commission
402	Potassium Alginate	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0 All mixed products allowed under the <i>General Standard for Food Additives</i> and Standards adopted by the Codex Alimentarius Commission
406	Agar	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.
407	Carrageenan	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
410	Carob Bean Gum	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply	01.1 Milk and dairy-based drinks 01.2 Fermented and renneted milk products (plain), excluding food category 01.1.2 (dairy-based drinks) 01.3 Condensed milk and analogues (plain) 01.4 Cream (plain) and the like 01.5 Milk powder and cream powder and powder analogues (plain)
410	Carob Bean Gum (cont'd)	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.6 Cheese and analogues 01.7 Dairy-based desserts (e.g. pudding, fruit or flavoured yoghurt) 01.8.1 Liquid whey and whey products, excluding whey cheeses 08.1.2 Fresh meat, poultry and game, comminuted 08.2 Processed meat, poultry, game products in whole pieces or cuts 08.3 Processed comminuted meat, poultry, and game products 08.4 Edible casings (e.g. sausage casings)

INS no.	Additive name	Functional use allowed in organic production	Permitted for use in food categories	
			Food of plant origin	Food of animal origin
412	Guar Gum	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.08.2.2 Heat-treated processed meat, poultry, and game products in whole pieces or cuts 8.3.2 Heat-treated processed comminuted meat, poultry, and game products 10.2 Egg products
413	Tragacanth Gum	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.
414	Gum Arabic	All	02.0 Fats and oils, and fat emulsions 05.0 Confectionery	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.002.0 Fats and oils, and fat emulsions 05.0 Confectionery
415	Xanthan Gum	All	02.0 Fats and oils, and fat emulsions 04.0 Fruits and vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds, and nuts and seeds 07.0 Bakery wares 12.7 Salads (e.g. macaroni salad, potato salad)	Not permitted.
416	Karaya Gum	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Not permitted.
422	Glycerol	All	Obtained from plant origin; used as a carrier for plant extracts 04.1.1.1 Untreated fresh fruit 04.1.1.2 Surface-treated fresh fruit 04.1.2 Processed fruit 04.2.1.2 Surface-treated fresh vegetables, (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds and nuts and seeds 04.2.2.2 Dried vegetables, (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds, and nuts and seeds 04.2.2.3 Vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), and seaweeds in vinegar, oil, brine, or soy sauce 04.2.2.4 Canned or bottled (pasteurized) or retort pouch vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), and seaweeds 04.2.2.5 Vegetable, (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweed, and nut and seed purees and spreads (e.g., peanut butter) 04.2.2.6 Vegetable, (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweed, and nut and seed pulps and preparations (e.g., vegetable desserts and sauces, candied vegetables) other than food category 04.2.2.5 04.2.2.7 Fermented vegetable (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera) and seaweed products, excluding fermented soybean products of food category 12.10 12.2 Herbs, spices, seasonings, and condiments (e.g., seasoning for instant noodles)	Not permitted.
440	Pectins (non-amidated)	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
500ii 500iii	Sodium hydrogen carbonate Sodium Sesquicarbonate	All	05.0 Confectionery 07.0 Bakery Wares	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.0
501i	Potassium Carbonate	All	05.0 Confectionery 06.0 Cereals and cereal products, derived from cereal grains, from roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, excluding bakery wares of food category 07.007.2 Fine Bakery wares (sweet, salty, savoury) and mixes	Not permitted.

INS no.	Additive name	Functional use allowed in organic production	Permitted for use in food categories	
			Food of plant origin	Food of animal origin
503i 503ii	Ammonium carbonate Ammonium Hydrogen Carbonate	Acidity Regulator Raising Agent	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Not permitted.
504i5 04ii	Magnesium Carbonate Magnesium Hydrogen Carbonate	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply.	Not permitted.
508	Potassium Chloride	All	04.0 Fruits and vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds, and nuts and seeds 12.4 Mustards 12.6.2 Non-emulsified sauces (e.g. ketchup, cheese sauces, cream sauces, brown gravy)	Not permitted.
509	Calcium chloride	All	04.0 Fruits and vegetables (including mushrooms and fungi, roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, and aloe vera), seaweeds, and nuts and seeds 06.8 Soybean products (excluding soybean products of food category 12.9 and fermented soybean products of food category 12.10) 12.9.1 Soybean protein products 12.10 Fermented soybean products	01.0 Dairy products and analogues, excluding products of food category 02.008.2 Processed meat, poultry, and game products in whole pieces or cuts 08.3 Processed comminuted meat, poultry and game products 08.4 Edible casings (e.g. sausage casings)
511	Magnesium chloride	All	06.8 Soybean products (excluding soybean products of food category 12.9 and fermented soybean products of food category 12.10) 12.9.1 Soybean protein products 12.10 Fermented soybean products	Not permitted.
516	Calcium sulphate	All	06.8 Soybean products (excluding soybean products of food category 12.9 and fermented soybean products of food category 12.10) 07.2.1 Cakes, cookies and pies (e.g. fruit-filled or custard type) 12.8 Yeast and like products 12.9.1 Soybean protein products 12.10 Fermented soybean products	Not permitted.
524	Sodium Hydroxide	All	06.0 Cereals and cereal products, derived from cereal grains, from roots and tubers, pulses and legumes, excluding bakery wares of food category 07.007.1.1.1 yeast-leavened breads and specialty breads	Not permitted.
551	Silicon Dioxide (Amorphous)	All	12.2 Herbs, spices, seasonings, and condiments (e.g. seasonings for instant noodles)	Not permitted.
941	Nitrogen	All	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply	Permitted, although exclusions of the GSFA still apply

3.2 Flavourings

Substances and products labelled as natural flavouring substances or natural flavouring preparations are defined in the *General Requirements for Natural Flavourings* (CAC/GL 29-1987).

3.3 Water and salts

Drinking water.

Salts (with sodium chloride or potassium chloride as basic components generally used in food processing).

3.4 Preparations of micro-organisms and enzymes

Any preparation of micro-organisms and enzymes normally used in food processing, with the exception of micro-organisms genetically engineered/modified or enzymes derived from genetic engineering.

3.5 Minerals (including trace elements), vitamins, essential fatty and amino acids, and other nitrogen compounds

Only approved in so far as their use is legally required in the food products in which they are incorporated.

Table 4
**PROCESSING AIDS WHICH MAY BE USED FOR THE PREPARATION OF
 PRODUCTS OF AGRICULTURAL ORIGIN REFERRED TO IN SECTION 3
 OF THESE GUIDELINES**

Substance	Specific conditions
FOR PLANT PRODUCTS	
Water	
Calcium chloride	coagulation agent
Calcium carbonate	
Calcium hydroxide	
Calcium sulphate	coagulation agent
Magnesium chloride (or nigari)	coagulation agent
Potassium carbonate	drying of grape raisins
Carbon dioxide	
Nitrogen	
Ethanol	solvent
Tannic acid	filtration aid
Egg white albumin	
Casein	
Gelatine	
Isinglass	
Vegetable oils	greasing or releasing agent
Silicon dioxide	as gel or colloidal solution
Activated carbon	
Talc	
Bentonite	
Kaolin	
Diatomaceous earth	
Perlite	
Hazelnut shells	
Beeswax	releasing agent

Substance	Specific conditions
Carnauba wax	releasing agent
Sulphuric acid	pH adjustment of extraction water in sugar production
Sodium hydroxide	pH adjustment in sugar production
Tartaric acid and salts	
Sodium carbonate	sugar production
Preparations of bark components	
Potassium hydroxide	pH adjustment for sugar processing
Citric acid	pH adjustment

Preparations of micro-organisms and enzymes

Any preparations of micro-organisms and enzymes normally used as processing aids in food processing, with the exception of genetically engineered/modified organisms and enzymes derived from genetically engineered/modified organisms.

For livestock and bee products

The following is a provisional list for the purposes of processing livestock and bee products only. Countries may develop a list of substances for national purposes that satisfy the requirements of these Guidelines as recommended in Section 5.2.

INS	Name	Specific conditions
	Calcium carbonates	
	Calcium chloride	Firming, coagulation agent in cheese making.
	Kaolin	Extraction of propolis.
	Lactic acid	Milk products: coagulation agent, pH regulation of salt bath for cheese.
	Sodium carbonate	Milk products: neutralizing substance.
	Water	

ANNEX 3

MINIMUM INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS AND PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES UNDER THE INSPECTION OR CERTIFICATION SYSTEM

1. Inspection measures are necessary across the whole of the food chain to verify product labelled according to Section 3 of these guidelines conforms to internationally agreed practices. The official or officially recognized certification body or authority and the competent authority should establish policies and procedures in accordance with these guidelines.
2. Access by the inspection body to all written and/or documentary records and to the establishment under the inspection scheme is essential. The operator under an inspection should also give access to the competent or designated authority and provide any necessary information for third party audit purposes.

A. PRODUCTION UNITS

Production according to these guidelines should take place in a unit where the land parcels, production areas, farm buildings and storage facilities for crop, **and** livestock **and** aquaculture **and** seaweed/other algae sites are clearly separate from those of any other unit which does not produce according to these guidelines; preparation and/or packaging workshops may form part of the unit, where its activity is limited to preparation and packaging of its own agricultural produce.

4. When the inspection arrangements are first implemented, the operator and the official or officially recognized certification body or authority should draw up and sign a document which includes:
 - a) a full description of the unit and/or collection areas, showing the storage and production premises, **and** land parcels, **aquaculture and seaweed/other algae sites** and, where applicable, premises where certain preparation and/or packaging operations take place;
 - b) and, in the case of collection of wild plants **and** wild seaweeds or other algae, the guarantees given by third parties, if appropriate, which the producer can provide to ensure that the provisions of Annex 1.A.1 para ~~10~~ 9 are satisfied;
 - c) all the practical measures to be taken at the level of the unit to ensure compliance with these guidelines;
 - d) the date of the last application on the land parcels, **aquatic sites** and/or collection areas concerned of products the use of which is not compatible with Section 4 of these guidelines;
 - e) an undertaking by the operator to carry out operations in accordance with Sections 3 and 4 and to accept, in event of infringements, implementation of the measures as referred to in Section 6, paragraph 9 of these guidelines.
5. Each year, before the date indicated by the certification body or authority, the operator should notify the official or officially recognized certification body or authority of its schedule of production of crop products and livestock, giving a breakdown by land parcel/herd, flock or hive.
6. Written and/or documentary accounts should be kept which enable the official or officially recognized certification body or authority to trace the origin, nature and quantities of all raw materials bought, and the use of such materials; in addition, written and/or documentary accounts should be kept of the nature, quantities and consignees of all agricultural products sold. Quantities sold directly to the final consumer should preferably be accounted for on a daily basis. When the unit itself processes agricultural products, its accounts must contain the information required in B2, third dash point of this Annex.
7. All livestock should be identified individually or, in the case of small mammals or poultry, by herd or flock ~~or~~ in the case of bees by hive **and in the case of aquaculture animals by lot**. Written and/or documentary accounts should be kept to enable tracking of livestock and bee colonies within the system at all times and to provide adequate traceback for audit purpose. The operator should maintain detailed and up-to-date records of:
 - a) breeding and/or origins of livestock or aquaculture animals;
 - b) registration of any purchases;
 - c) the health plan to be used in the prevention and management of disease, injury and reproductive problems;
 - d) all treatments and medicines administered for any purpose, including quarantine periods and identification of treated animals or hives;

- e) feed provided and the source of the feedstuffs;
 - f) stock movements within the unit and hive movements within designated forage areas as identified on maps;
 - g) transportation, slaughter and/or sales.
 - h) extraction, processing and storing of all bee products.
8. Storage, on the unit, of input substances, other than those whose use is with paragraph 4.1(b) of these guidelines is prohibited.
9. The official or officially recognized certification body or authority should ensure that a full physical inspection is undertaken, at least once a year, of the unit. Samples for testing of products not listed in these guidelines may be taken where their use is suspected. An inspection report should be drawn up after each visit. Additional occasional unannounced visits should also be undertaken according to need or at random.
10. The operator should give the certification body or authority, for inspection purposes, access to the storage and production premises and to the parcels of land or aquatic sites, as well as to the accounts and relevant supporting documents. The operator should also provide the inspection body with any information deemed necessary for the purposes of the inspection.
11. Products referred to in Section 1 of these guidelines which are not in their packaging for the end consumer should be transported in a manner which should prevent contamination or substitution of the content with substances or product not compatible with these guidelines and the following information, without prejudice to any other indications required by law:
- the name and address of the person responsible for the production or preparation of the product;
 - the name of the product; and
 - that the product is of organic status.
12. Where an operator runs several production units in the same area (parallel cropping), units in the area producing crop, crop products or seaweed/other algae or their products not covered by Section 1 should also be subject to the inspection arrangements as regards the dash points of paragraph 4 and paragraphs 6 and 8 above. Plants of indistinguishable varieties as those produced at the unit referred to in paragraph 3 above should not be produced at these units:
- If derogations are allowed by the competent authority, the authority must specify the types of production and circumstances for which derogations are granted and the supplementary inspection requirements, such as unannounced site visits; extra inspections during harvest; additional documentary requirements; assessment of an operation's ability to prevent co-mingling, etc., which are to be implemented.
 - Pending further review of these guidelines, member countries can accept parallel cropping of the same variety, even if it is not distinguishable, subject to adequate inspection measures being applied.
13. In organic livestock and aquaculture animal production, all livestock on one and the same production unit must be reared in accordance with the rules laid down in these Guidelines. However, livestock not reared in accordance with these Guidelines may be present on the organic holding provided that they are separated clearly from livestock produced in accordance with these Guidelines. The competent authority can prescribe more restrictive measures, such as different species.
14. The competent authority may accept that animals reared in accordance with the provisions of these Guidelines may be grazed on common land, or reared in aquatic zones held in common, provided that:
- a) this land has not been treated with products other than those allowed in accordance with Section 4.1 (a) and (b) of these Guidelines, for at least three years;
 - b) a clear segregation between the animals reared in accordance with the provisions of these Guidelines, and the other animals can be organized.
15. For livestock or aquatic animal production, the competent authority should ensure, without prejudice to the other provisions in this Annex, that the inspections related to all stages of production and preparation up to the sale to the consumer ensure, as far as technically possible, the traceability of livestock and livestock products from the livestock production unit through processing and any other preparation until final packaging and/or labelling.

B. PREPARATION AND PACKAGING UNITS

1. The producer and/or operator and should provide:
- a full description of the unit, showing the facilities used for the preparation, packaging and storage of agricultural products before and after the operations concerning them;
 - all the practical measures to be taken at the level of the unit to ensure compliance these guidelines.

This description and the measures concerned should be signed by the responsible person of the unit and the certification body.

The report should include an undertaking by the operator to perform the operations in such a way as to comply with Section 4 of these guidelines and to accept, in the event of infringements, the implementation of measures as referred to in paragraph 6.9 of these guidelines and be countersigned by both parties.

2. Written accounts should be kept enabling the certification body or authority to trace:
 - the origin, nature and quantities of agricultural products as referred to in Section 1 of these guidelines which have been delivered to the unit;
 - the nature, quantities and consignees of products as referred to in Section 1 of these guidelines which have left the unit;
 - any other information such as the origin, nature and quantities of ingredients, additives and manufacturing aids delivered to the unit and the composition of processed products, that is required by the certification body or authority for the purposes of proper inspection of the operations.

3. Where products not referred to in Section 1 of these guidelines are also processed, packaged or stored in the unit concerned:
 - the unit should have separate areas within the premises for the storage of products as referred to in Section 1 of these guidelines, before and after the operations;
 - operations should be carried out continuously until the complete run has been dealt with, separated by place or time from similar operations performed on products not covered by Section 1 of these guidelines;
 - if such operations are not carried out frequently, they should be announced in advance, with a deadline agreed on with the certification body or authority;
 - every measure should be taken to ensure identification of lots and to avoid mixtures with products not obtained in accordance with the requirements of these guidelines.

4. The official or officially recognized certification body or authority should ensure that a full physical inspection, at least once a year, of the unit. Samples for testing of products not listed in these guidelines may be taken where their use is suspected. An inspection report must be drawn up after each visit countersigned by the person responsible for the unit inspected. Additional occasional unannounced visits should also be undertaken according to need or at random.

5. The operator should give the official or officially recognized certification body or authority or authority, for inspection purposes, access to the unit and to written accounts and relevant supporting documents. The operator should also provide the inspection body with any information necessary for the purposes of inspection.

6. The requirements in respect to the transport as laid down in paragraph A.10 of this Annex are applicable.

7. On receipt of a product referred to in Section 1 of these Guidelines, the operator shall check:
 - the closing of the packaging or contained where it is required;
 - the presence of the indications referred to in A.10 of this Annex. The result of this verification shall be explicitly mentioned in the accounts referred to in point B.2. When there is any doubt that the product cannot be verified according to the production system provided for in Section 6 of this Guidelines, it must be placed on the market without indication referring to the organic production method.

C. IMPORTS

Importing countries should establish appropriate inspection requirements for the inspection of importers and of imported organic products.

[†] [Definition of Aquaculture from the FAO Technical Guidelines on Aquaculture Certification, document agreed by the Sub-Committee on Aquaculture in 2010 and approved by FAO Committee on Fisheries February 2011;](#)

[‡] [Definition from FAO Glossary of Aquaculture](#)

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS/LISTES DES PARTICIPANTS
LISTA DE PARTICIPANTES
PHYSICAL WORKING GROUP ON ORGANIC AQUACULTURE
MONDAY, 13 MAY 2013 – 10:00 HOURS
JOHN A MCDONALD COLES BALLROOM

Co-Chairs: Mr. Richard BATES
Administrator
European Commission
DG MARE
Rue de la Loi
1049 Brussels, BELGIUM
Tel: +32 2 29912 02
E-mail: richard.bates@ec.europa.eu

Ms. Catherine MORRISON
Environment and Quality Executive
Bord Iascaigh Mhara
Crofton Road, Dun Laoghaire
Co. Dublin, IRELAND
Tel: +353 1 2144100
E-mail: Morrison@bim.ie

ARGENTINA - ARGENTINE

Mr. Pablo MORON
(Jefe de delegación)
Director de Calidad de Productos Agrícolas
Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca
Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca
Av. Paseo Colón 922
01063ACD Ciudad Autónoma de Buenos Aires
ARGENTINA
Tel: +54 11 4349-2253
Fax: +54 11 4349-2097
E-mail: pmoron@minagri.gob.ar

Dr. Andrea Nilda CALZETTA RESIO
Supervisor Técnico de Aprobación de Productos
Alimenticios
Servicio Nacional de Sanidad y Calidad
Agroalimentaria
Coordinación Gral. de Aprobación de Productos
Alimenticios
Avda. Paseo Colón 439 - Piso 1 Frente
01063ACD Ciudad Autónoma de Buenos Aires
ARGENTINA
Tel: +54 11 4121 5087
Fax: +54 11 4342 8003
E-mail: acalzet@senasa.gov.ar

Mr. Arnaldo César NONZIOLI
Consultor
Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca
Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca
Av. Paseo Colón 922, Piso 2, Of. 222
01063ACD Ciudad Autónoma de Bs. As.
ARGENTINA
Tel: +54 11 4349-2236
Fax: +54 11 4349-2306
E-mail: anonzi@minagri.gob.ar

Ms. Maria Cristina LOPEZ
Licenciada en Ciencias Químicas
Instituto Nacional de Tecnología Industrial
Centro de Cereales y Oleaginosas
Colectora de Avenida General Paz 5445
B1650KNA San Martín, ARGENTINA
Tel: +54 11 4724 6433
Fax: +54 11 4753 5743
E-mail: kitty@inti.gob.ar

AUSTRALIA - AUSTRALIE

Ms. Kathy DENNIS
(Head of Delegation)
Assistant Secretary
Department of Health and Ageing
GPO Box 9848
2601 Canberra, AUSTRALIA
Tel: +61 2 6289 1770
E-mail: Kathy.Dennis@health.gov.au

Ms. Angela O'SULLIVAN
Director - International Food Standards
Agriculture Productivity Division
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry
GPO Box 858, Canberra City
2601 ACT
AUSTRALIA
Tel: +61 2 6272 3871
Fax: +61 2 6272 3025
E-mail: angela.osullivan@daff.gov.au

AUSTRIA - AUTRICHE

Ms. Amire MAHMOOD
(Head of Delegation)
Deputy Head
Federal Ministry of Health
Radetzkystraße 2
1030 Wien, AUSTRIA
Tel: +43 1 71100 4741
Fax: +43 1 71100 4201
E-mail: amire.mahmood@bmg.gv.at

Mr. Andreas KADI
Chief Science Officer
Red Bull GmbH
Am Brunnen 1
5330 Fuschl am See, AUSTRIA
Tel: +43 662 6582 - 7249
Fax: +43 662 6582 - 67249
E-mail: andreas.kadi@at.redbull.com

BRAZIL – BRÉSIL - BRASIL

Mr. RODRIGO VARGAS
Specialist in Health Surveillance
Brazilian Health Surveillance Agency
Sia, Trecho 5, Área Especial 57
71.205-050 BRASÍLIA
BRAZIL
Tel: +55 61 3462-4288
Fax: +55 61 3462-5315
E-mail: rodrigo.vargas@anvisa.gov.br

Mr. Roberto MATTAR GUIMARÃES HABIB
Federal Inspector
Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Food Supply
Esplanada dos Ministérios, Bloco D, Anexo B, Sala
152-B
70043-900 Brasilia
BRAZIL
Tel: +55 61 3218 24 53
Fax: +55 61 32182268
E-mail: roberto.mattar@agricultura.gov.br

Ms. Fatima BRAGA
Specialist on Regulation and Health Surveillance
Ministry of Health
SIA Trecho 5, Área Especial 57, Bloco
71205-050 Brasilia, BRAZIL
Tel: +55 61 3462 5342
Fax: +55 61 3462 5315
E-mail: fatima.braga@anvisa.gov.br

CANADA

Ms. Kathy TWARDEK
(Head of Delegation)
National Manager, Consumer Protection Division
Canadian Food Inspection Agency
1400 Merivale Road, Tower 2
Ottawa, ON K1A 0Y9, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-773-5487
Fax: +1-613-773-5603
E-mail: kathy.twardek@inspection.gc.ca

Ms. Elizabeth CORRIGAN
Regulatory Standards Officer
Canadian Food Inspection Agency
1400 Merivale Road
Ottawa, ON K1A 0Y9, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-773-6221
Fax: +1-613-773-5603
E-mail: elizabeth.corrigan@inspection.gc.ca

Ms. Jane BARNETT
Manager, Certification and Market Access
Fisheries and Oceans Canada
200 Kent Street
Ottawa, ON, CANADA
Tel: +1-905-823-1022
Fax: +1-905-823-8920
E-mail: jane.barnett@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Mrs. Karrolyn VAN HELDEN
Senior Trade Policy Officer
Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada
111 Sussex Drive
Ottawa, ON K1N 1J1, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-947-9366
Fax: +1-613-943-0346
E-mail: karrrolyn.vanhelden@international.gc.ca

Non-Government Adviser

Mr. Bruce HANCOCK
Executive Director
Aquaculture Association of Nova Scotia
7075 Bayers Road, Suite 215
Halifax, N.S. B3L 2C2, CANADA
Tel: +1-902-422-6234
Fax: +1-902-422-6248
E-mail: bhancock@seafarmers.ca

CHILE - CHILI

Mrs. Marisol FIGUEROA
(Head of Delegation)
Gerente de Alimentos
Chilealimentos
Av. Andrés Bello 2777, Piso 1, Oficina 1 - B, Las
Condes
Santiago, CHILE
Tel: +56 2 28999609
E-mail: mfigueroa@chilealimentos.com

Ms. Gisela RODRÍGUEZ RIDEAU
Regulatory & Scientific Affairs Manager
Nestlé
Av. Las Condes 11.287 Las Condes
Santiago, CHILE
Tel: +56 2 233834209
E-mail: Gisela.Rodriguez@cl.nestle.com

COSTA RICA

Ms Marcela ROJAS GÓMEZ
Departamento del Codex
Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Comercio
Sabana Sur, 400 metros oeste de la Contaloría
General de la República
10216-1000 San José
COSTA RICA
Tel: +506 2291 2115
Fax: +506 2291 2120 / +506 2291 201
E-mail: mrojas@meic.go.cr

DENMARK - DANEMARK - DINAMARCA

Ms. Pernille Lundquist MADSEN
(Head of Delegation)
Deputy Head of Division
Danish Veterinary and Food Administration
Stationsparken 31 - 33
2600 Glostrup, DENMARK
Tel: +45 72276662
E-mail: plum@fvst.dk

DOMINICA – DOMINIQUE

Mr. Heinrich ANSELM
(Head of Delegation)
Technical Officer - Standards Development
Dominica Bureau of Standards
National Centre of Testing Excellence, Stockfarm,
P.O. Box 1015
Roseau, DOMINICA
Tel: 1 767 448 1685
Fax: 1 767 449 9217
E-mail: codex@dominicastandards.org

**EUROPEAN UNION (MEMBER ORGANIZATION)
UNION EUROPÉENNE (ORGANISATION MEMBRE)
UNIÓN EUROPEA (ORGANIZACIÓN MIEMBRO)**

Ms. Barbara MORETTI
(Head of Delegation)
Administrator
European Commission
Directorate General for Health and Consumers
Rue Froissart 101
1049 Brussels, BELGIUM
Tel: +32 2 2992362
E-mail: barbara.moretti@ec.europa.eu

FRANCE - FRANCIA

Mme Sophie Dussours
(Head of Delegation)
Finance Ministry
59 Boulevard Vincent Auriol
Paris, FRANCE
Tel.: +33 1 44 97 03 08
E-mail: sophie.dussours@dgccrf.finances.gouv.fr

GERMANY – ALLEMAGNE - ALEMANIA

Dr. Claudia GEHRMANN
(Head of Delegation)
Deputy Head of Division
Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer
Protection
Rochusstrasse 1
53123 Bonn, GERMANY
E-mail: claudia.gehrmann@bmelv.bund.de

GHANA

Mr. MICHAEL AGBEKO KWADJO SENAYAH
Senior Industrial Promotion Officer
Ministry of Trade and Industry
P. O.Box MB 47
ACCRA
GHANA
Tel: +233244722855
Fax: +233302662428
E-mail: senzano2000@yahoo.com
E-mail: codex@gsa.gov.gh

HUNGARY – HONGRIE- HUNGRIA

Ms. Edit HIDI
(Head of Delegation)
Coordination Officer
Ministry of Rural Development
Department of Food Processing
Kossuth Lajos tér 11.
H-1055 Budapest
HUNGARY
Tel: +36 1 795-3967
Fax: +36 1 795 0096
E-mail: edit.hidi@vm.gov.hu

IRELAND – IRLANDE - IRLANDA

Ms. Anne-Marie BOLAND
Senior Executive, Regulatory Affairs
Food Safety Authority of Ireland
Abbey Court, Lower Abbey Street
1 Dublin, IRELAND
Tel: + 353 1 8171367
Fax: + 353 1 8181301
E-mail: amboland@fsai.ie

Mr. David Nolan
Senior Superintending Veterinary Inspector
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine
Agriculture House
2 Dublin, IRELAND
Tel: +353 1 607 2978
Fax: +353 1 6610230
E-mail: Davidw.Nolan@agriculture.gov.ie

Mr. Cesar CORTES
Administrator
Council of the European Union - Irish Delegation
DG B 2B
Rue de la Loi 175
1048 Brussels, BELGIUM
Tel: +32 2 281 6114
Fax: +32 2 281 6198
E-mail: secretariat.codex@consilium.europa.eu

ITALY – ITALIE - ITALIA

Mr. Ciro IMPAGNATIELLO
(Head of Delegation)
Italian Codex Contact Point
Ministry of Agricultural, Food and Forestry Policies
Via XX Settembre, 20
00187 Rome, ITALY
Tel: +39 0646654031
Fax: +39 064880273
E-mail: c.impagnatiello@mpaaf.gov.it

Ms Maria Severina LIBERATI
Chief Ministerial Unit
Ministry of Agricultural, Food and Forestry Policies
G.D. for Fisheries and Aquaculture
Via Dell'Arte
16-00144 Rome, ITALY
Tel: +39 06 59084376
Fax: +39 06 59084176
E-mail: ms.liberati@mpaaf.gov.it

JAMAICA - JAMAÏQUE

Mr. Wendell RICHARDS
Head - Compliance Department
Bureau of Standards Jamaica
6 Winchester Road
Kingston 10
JAMAICA
Tel: (876)619-1131
E-mail: wrichards@bsj.org.jm

JAPAN – JAPON - JAPÓN

Dr. Manabu SUMI
Director
Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare JAPAN
Office of International Food Safety, Department of
Food Safety
1-2-2 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku
100-8916 Tokyo
JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-3595-2326
Fax: +81-3-3503-7965
E-mail: codexj@mhlw.go.jp

Mr. Makoto SAKASHITA
Associate Director
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
Food Safety and Consumer Policy Division
1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku
100-8907 Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-3502-8732
Fax: +81-3-3507-4232
E-mail: makoto_sakashita@nm.maff.go.jp

Mr. Haruo TOMINAGA
Associate Director
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
Fisheries Processing Industries and Marketing
Division, Fisheries Agency
1-2-1 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku
100-8907 Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-3502-8203
Fax: +81-3-3508-1357
E-mail: haruo_tominaga@nm.maff.go.jp

Mr. Nobuyoshi SHIOZAWA
Officer
Consumer Affairs Agency
Food Labelling Division,
"5th Floor Sanno Park Tower,
100-6178 Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-3507-9220
Fax: +81-3-3507-9292
E-mail: g.codex-j@caa.go.jp

Mr. Hiroaki HAMANO
ILSI Japan
Nishikawa Building 5F, 3-5-19, Kojimachi
102-0083 Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-5215-3535
Fax: +81-3-5215-3537
E-mail: hhamano@ilsijapan.org

MALAYSIA – MALAISIE - MALASIA

Ms. Shariza Zainol Rashid
(Head of Delegation)
Assistant Director
Ministry of Health Malaysia
Food Safety and Quality Division
Level 3, Block E7, Parcel E, Federal Government
Administrative Centre
62590 Putrajaya, MALAYSIA
Tel: +603 8885 0790
Fax: +603 8885 0790
E-mail: shariza_z@moh.gov.my

Ms. BADARIAH MOHD ALI
Director
Department of Fisheries Malaysia
Fisheries Biosecurity Division
Level 3, Podium 2, Block 4G2, Wisma Tani
Precinct 4
62628 Putrajaya, MALAYSIA
Tel: +603-88704705 / +6013-3352257
Fax: +603-88903794
E-mail: badmoh02@dof.gov.my

Dr. Kanga Rani SELVADURAY
Senior Research Officer
Malaysian Palm Oil Board
No.6, Persiaran Institusi, Bandar Baru Bangi
43000 Kajang, Selangor, MALAYSIA
Tel: +603 87694606
Fax: +603 89221742
E-mail: krani@mpob.gov.my

MOROCCO - MAROC - MARRUECOS

Dr. Sanae OUAZZANE
(Chef de délégation)
Cadre
Office National de Sécurité Sanitaire des Produits
Alimentaires
Département de l'Agriculture
Avenue Hadj Ahmed Cherkaoui - Agdal
Rabat, MOROCCO
Tel: +212 537 676 619
Fax: +212 537 68 20 49
E-mail: ouazzanisanae@gmail.com

NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS - PAÍSES BAJOS

Ms. Inge STOELHORST
(Head of Delegation)
Senior Policy Officer
Ministry of Health
PO Box 20350, 2500 EJ
The Hague, NETHERLANDS
Tel: +31 70 340 5658
Fax: +31 70 340 5554
E-mail: i.stoelhorst@minvws.nl

NEW ZEALAND - NOUVELLE-ZÉLANDE - NUEVA ZELANDIA

Dr. Jenny REID
(Head of Delegation)
Manager Food Science & Risk Assessment
Ministry for Primary Industries
Standards
PO Box 2526
6011 Wellington, NEW ZEALAND
Tel: +64 4 894 2582
E-mail: jenny.reid@mpi.govt.nz

Ms. Phillippa HAWTHORNE
Senior Advisor (Labelling & Composition)
Ministry for Primary Industries
Standards
PO Box 2526
6011 Wellington, NEW ZEALAND
Tel: +64 4 8942514
E-mail: phillippa.hawthorne@mpi.govt.nz

Ms. Kay SHAPLAND
Manager, Food Production & Processing
Ministry for Primary Industries
Standards
25 The Terrace
6011 Wellington, NEW ZEALAND
Tel: +64-4-8942655
E-mail: Kay.Shapland@mpi.govt.nz

NIGERIA - NIGÉRIA

Ms. OGOCHUKWU, NKOLIKA MAINASARA
Ag. Director
National Agency for Food and Drug Administration
and Control(NAFDAC)
Plot 2032 Olusegun Obasanjo Way, Wuse Zone 7,
Abuja, NIGERIA
Tel: +2348033217430
E-mail: manaogo2000@yahoo.com
E-mail: mainasara.o@nafdac.gov.ng

Mr. Fred Nduka CHIAZOR
Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Manager
Coca-Cola Nigeria Limited/ Association of Food
Beverages and Tobacco Employers
16 Gerrard Road, Ikoyi, Lagos
Lagos, NIGERIA
Tel: +234-8035352226
E-mail: fchiazor@coca-cola.com
E-mail: fredndukachiazor@hotmail.com

NORWAY – NORVÈGE - NORUEGA

Mrs. Vigdis Synnøve VEUM MØLLERSEN
(Head of Delegation)
Senior Advisor
Norwegian Food Safety Authority- Head Office
P.O.Box 383
N-2381 Brumunddal, NORWAY
E-mail: visvm@mattilsynet.no

PANAMA - PANAMÁ

Ing. Aracelis Arosemena de Vergara
(Head of Delegation)
Agronomic Engineering – Food Plant Supervisor
Department of Food Protection
Ministry of Health
081606812 Panama, 1 PANAMA
Phone: +507 512 9180
Fax: +507 512 9114
E-mail: aracelisdv@gmail.com
E-mail: diversosminsa@yahoo.com

PERU – PÉROU - PERÚ

Ing. Soraya Claudia LASTRA CASAPÍA
Especialista de Normalización
Instituto Nacional de Defensa de la Competencia y de
la Protección de la Propiedad Intelectual - Indecopi
Comisión de Normalización y de Fiscalización de
Barreras Comerciales no Arancelarias
Calle de la Prosa 104, San Borja
511 lima, PERU
Tel: +511 224 7800
E-mail: slastra@indecopi.gob.pe

REPUBLIC OF KOREA - RÉPUBLIQUE DE CORÉE - REPÚBLICA DE COREA

Dr. KYUJAI HAN
Principal Research Scientist
Korea Food Research Institute
Food Certification Center
#1201-62, Anyangpangkyo-ro, Bundang-gu
463-746 Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do,
REPUBLIC OF KOREA
Tel: +82-31-780-9120
Fax: +82-31-780-9154
E-mail: kjhan@kfri.re.kr

Dr. Sang-Beom LEE
Researcher
Rural Development Administration
Division of Organic Agriculture
Suinro 126, Kweonseon-gu
441-707 Suwon, Kyeongkee-do
REPUBLIC OF KOREA
Tel: 82-31-290-0557
Fax: 82-31-290-0507
E-mail: korealee@korea.kr

Ms. JUNGOCK LEE
Research Scientist
Korea Food Research Institute
Food Certification Center
#1201-62, Anyangpangkyo-ro, Bundang-gu
463-746 Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do
REPUBLIC OF KOREA
Tel: 82-31-780-9049
Fax: 82-31-780-9154
E-mail: foodstd@kfri.re.kr

**RUSSIAN FEDERATION -
FÉDÉRATION DE RUSSIE -
FEDERACIÓN DE RUSIA**

Dr. Elena SMIRNOVA
Senior Scientist
Russian Institute of Nutrition
Laboratory of Novel Specialized Food Products
Ustyinskiy proezd 2/14
109240 Moscow, RUSSIAN FEDERATION
Tel: +7 495 698 53 89
Fax: +7 495 698-5379
E-mail: smirnova@ion.ru

Mr. DMITRY MAKAROV
Russian Federal Service for Veterinary and
Phytosanitary Surveillance, OIE Collaborating Centre
5 Zvenigorodskoe shosse
Moscow, RUSSIAN FEDERATION
Tel: +7 499 185 19 43
E-mail: phorez@yandex.ru

**SAINT LUCIA – SAINT LUCIE – SANTA
LUCIA**

Mr. Hubert REYNOLDS
Head of Department Compliance
Saint Lucia Bureau of Standards
Ministry of Commerce
Bisee Industrial Estate
Castries, SAINT LUCIA
Tel: +758 453 0049
Fax: +758 452 3561
E-mail: h.raynolds@slbs.org

**SOUTH AFRICA – AFRIQUE DU SUD –
SUDÁFRICA**

Mr. Malose Daniel MATLALA
(Head of Delegation)
Deputy Director: Inter-agency Liaison and
Regulatory Nutrition
Department of Health
Directorate: Food Control
Private Bag x828
0001 Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA
Tel: +27 12 395 8789
Fax: +27 86 632 6440
E-mail: CACPSA@health.gov.za

Mrs. Antoinette BOOYZEN
Assistant Director: Food Control
Department of Health
Directorate: Food Control
Private Bag x828
0001 Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA
Tel: +27 12 395 8792
Fax: +27 12 395 8854
E-mail: BOOYZA@HEALTH.GOV.ZA

SWEDEN – SUÈDE - SUECIA

Ms. Kristina SJÖLIN
Principal Regulatory Officer
National Food Agency
Food Standards Department
Box 622
SE-75126 Uppsala, SWEDEN
Tel: +46 18 17 55 00
E-mail: Codex.Sweden@slv.se

THAILAND – THAILANDE - TAILANDIA

Ms. Nanthiya UNPRASERT
(Head of Delegation)
Deputy Secretary General
Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
National Bureau of Agricultural Commodity and
Food Standards
50 Phaholyothin Road, Lad Yao, Chatuchak
10900 Bangkok, THAILAND
Tel: +66 (2) 561 2277 ext. 1120
Fax: +66 (2) 561 3712
E-mail: nanthiya@acfs.go.th

Ms. Panpilad SAIKAEW
Standard Officer
National Bureau of Agricultural Commodity and
Food Standards
Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
50 Paholyothin Rd. Ladyao Chatujak
10900 Bangkok, THAILAND
Tel: +662-561-2277, ext. 1427
Fax: +662-561-3373 / +662-561-3357
E-mail: panpilad@acfs.go.th

Ms. Supatra REWPAIROJ
Trade and Technical Manager
Thai food Processors' Association
Board of Trade of Thailand
170/21-22 Ocean Tower 1 Bldg, Khlongtoey
10110 Bangkok, THAILAND
Tel: +662-261-2684-6
Fax: +662-261-2996-7
E-mail: supatra@thaifood.org
E-mail: thaifood@thaifood.org

Mr. Rungroj RUNGROJSAKORN
Executive Manager
Thai Frozen Food Association
Board of Trade of Thailand
92/6 6th Floor, Sathornthani 2 Blog
North Sathorn Road
10500 Bangkok, THAILAND
Tel: +662-235-5622
Fax: +662-235-5625
E-mail: rungroj@ufp.co.th
E-mail: thai-frozen@thai-frozen.or.th

Mr. Tust THANGSOMBAT
Vice President and Chairman of Seafood Processors
Group
Thai Food Processors' Association
Board of Trade of Thailand
170/21-22 Ocean Tower 1 Bldg.
Khlongtoey
10110 Bangkok, THAILAND
Tel: +662-261-2684-6
Fax: +662-261-2997
E-mail: thaifood@thaifood.org, info@poonsin.com

**TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO –
TRINITÉ-ET-TOBAGO –
TRINIDAD Y TABAGO**

KHAN, MR. FARZ
Food and Drugs Inspector
Chemistry Food and Drugs Division
Ministry of Health
92 Frederick Street
Port of Spain, TRINIDAD & TOBAGO
Tel.:
Fax:
E-mail: farz_khan@hotmail.com

UGANDA – OUGANDA- UGANDA

Mrs. Agnes CHANDIA
Head Nutrition
Ministry of Health
Lourdel Road, P.O. Box 7272
Kampala, UGANDA
Tel: +25641340884
Fax: +256-772-886-201
E-mail: bakuchandia@ymail.com

Ms. Irene WANYENYA
Deputy Food Safety Coordinator
National Drug Authority
Plot 46/48 Lumumba Avenue
P.O. Box 23096
Kampala, UGANDA
Tel: +256414255665
Fax: +256414255758
E-mail: iwanyenya@nda.or.ug
E-mail : irene_w2k@yahoo.com

**UNITED KINGDOM – ROYAUME-UNI-REINO
UIDO**

Mr. Stephen PUGH
(Head of Delegation)
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
Area 3A, Nobel House, 17 Smith Square
SW1P 3JR London
UNITED KINGDOM
Tel: 020 7238 4339
E-mail: stephen.pugh@defra.gsi.gov.uk

**UNITED STATES OF AMERICA -
ETATS-UNIS D'AMÉRIQUE -
ESTADOS UNIDOS DE AMÉRICA**

Mr. Jeffrey CANAVAN
Alternate Delegate
United States Department of Agriculture
Food Safety and Inspection Service
1400 Independence Ave., SW, Patriots Plaza 3,
Maildrop 3786
20024-3221 Washington, DC
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +1-301-504-0868
Fax: +1-202-245-4792
E-mail: jeff.canavan@fsis.usda.gov

Dr. LISA BRINES
Agricultural Marketing Specialist
United States Department of Agriculture
AMS National Organic Program
1400 Independence Ave SW
20250 Washington, DC
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +1-202-821-9683
Fax: +1-202-205-7808
E-mail: lisa.brines@ams.usda.gov

Ms. Katherine DIMATTEO
Senior Associate
Wolf, DiMatteo & Associates
P.O. Box 458, 49 Race Street
New Castle, VA 24127
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +413-624-5569
Fax: +413-624-5569
E-mail: kdimatteo@organicspecialists.com

Ms. Mari KIRRANE
Wine Trade and Technical Advisor
Alcohol & Tobacco Tax & Trade Bureau
International Trade Division
490 N. Wiget Lane
Walnut Creek, CA 94598
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +513-684-3289
Fax: +202-453-2678
E-mail: Mari.Kirrane@ttb.gov

URUGUAY

Ms NORA VILLALBA
Licenciada en Nutricion
Ministerio de Salud Publica
División Alimentos
18 de julio 1892
11900 Montevideo, URUGUAY
Tel: +59824028032 INT 119
Fax: +59824028032 INT 122
E-mail: noravillalba@gmail.com

**INTERNATIONAL GOVERNMENTAL
ORGANIZATIONS –
ORGANISATIONS INTERNATIONALES
GOUVERNEMENTALES -
ORGANIZACIONES INTERNACIONALES
GUBERNAMENTALES**

**INTER-AMERICAN INSTITUTE FOR
COOPERATION ON AGRICULTURE -
INSTITUT INTERAMÉRICAIN DE
COOPÉRATION POUR L'AGRICULTURE -
INSTITUTO INTERAMERICANO DE
COOPERACIÓN PARA LA AGRICULTURA**

Dr. Jaime FLORES
Especialista Internacional en Sanidad Agropecuaria e
Inocuidad de los Alimentos
IICA
Esq. de Puente Victoria, Edf. Centro Villasmil, Piso
11, Ofc. 1102, Parque Carabobo, La Ca
Caracas
VENEZUELA (BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF)
Tel: +58212 / +5731021
Fax: +58212 / +5771356
E-mail: jaime.flores@iica.int

**INTERNATIONAL NON-GOVERNMENTAL
ORGANIZATIONS -
ORGANISATIONS NON-GOUVERNEMENT-
ALES INTERNATIONALES -
ORGANIZACIONES INTERNACIONALES NO
GUBERNAMENTALES**

CALORIE CONTROL COUNCIL

Mrs. Victoria BETTERIDGE
Calorie Control Council
1 Kingsway
WC2B 6AT London
UNITED KINGDOM
Tel: +44 207 257 2100
E-mail: victoria.betteridge@tateandlyle.com

**CONSUMERS INTERNATIONAL (CI) /
ORGANISATION INTERNATIONALE DES
UNIONS DE CONSOMMATEURS**

Dr. Michael Hansen
(Head of Delegation)
Senior Scientist
Consumers Union
101 Truman Avenue
Yonkers, NY 10703, U.S.A.
Phone: +1-914-378-2452
Email: hansmi@consumer.org

**COUNCIL FOR RESPONSIBLE NUTRITION
(CRN) –
CONSEJO PARA UNA NUTRICIÓN
RESPONSABLE**

Dr. Cameron Smith
Senior Director
WW Regulatory, Government and Industry Affairs
and Intellectual Property
Herbalife
990 West 190th Street, Suite 650
Torrance, CA 90502, U.S.A.
Tel.: +310-410-9600, ext. 52828
Fax: +310-767-3316
E-mail: cameron@herbalife.com

**INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF
DIETARY/FOOD SUPPLEMENT
ASSOCIATIONS (IADSA)**

Dr. Tomoji IGARASHI
IADSA Expert
International Alliance of Dietary/Food Supplement
Associations (IADSA)
50, rue de l'Association
B-1000 Brussels, BELGIUM
Tel: +32 2 209 11 55
Fax: +32 2 223 30 64
E-mail: pieterdhondt@iadsa.be

Dr. Kazuo SUEKI
IADSA Expert
IADSA
Rue de l'Association 50
1000 Brussels, BELGIUM
Tel: +32 2 209 11 55
Fax: +32 2 219 73 42
E-mail: pieterdhondt@iadsa.org

**INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF BEVERAGES
ASSOCIATIONS (ICBA)**

Dr. Hiromi OHTA
Technical Advisor
Japan Soft Drink Association
3-3-3 Nihonbashi-Muromachi Cyuou-ku
103-0022 Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-3270-7300
Fax: +81-3-3270-7306
E-mail: hiromi_ohta@suntory.co.jp

**INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF
ORGANIC AGRICULTURE MOVEMENTS**

Mr. Matthew J. HOLMES
Executive Director, Canada Organic Trade
Association
International Federation of Organic Agriculture
Movements (IFOAM)
P.O. Box 13, Station A
Ottawa, Ontario K1N 8V1, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-482-1717
Fax: +1-613-236-0743
E-mail: mholmes@ota.com

**INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY
RESEARCH INSTITUTE**

Dr. Anne MACKENZIE
Standards and Regulatory Advisor
International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI)
HarvestPlus
2033 K Street, NW
20006 Washington, DC
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +1-613-692-0211
E-mail: amackenzie@rogers.com

Ms. Marilia NUTI
Science Advisor
International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI)
2033 K Street, NW
Washington, DC
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +55 21 91416777
Fax: +55 21 3622 9713
E-mail: mnutti@uninet.com.br

Ms. Fabiana MOURA
Research Fellow
International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI)
HarvestPlus
2033 K Street, NW
20006 Washington, DC
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Tel: +1 202 862-5693
E-mail: f.moura@cgiar.org

**INTERNATIONAL LIFE SCIENCES
INSTITUTE (ILSI)
INTERNATIONAL LIFE SCIENCES
INSTITUTE (ILSI)**

Mr. Mitsuhiro KATASHIMA
Kao Corporation
2-1-3, Bunka, Sumida-ku
131-8501 Tokyo, JAPAN
Tel: +81-3-5630-7456
Fax: +81-3-5630-9436
E-mail: katashima.mitsuhiro@kao.co.jp

**JOINT FAO/WHO SECRETARIAT
SÉCRÉTARIAT MIXTE FAO/OMS
SECRETARIADO CONJUNTO FAO/OMS**

Mr. Tom HEILANDT
Senior Food Standards Officer
Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme
Viale delle Terme di Caracalla
00153 Rome, ITALY
Tel.: +39 06 570 54384
Fax: +39 06 570 54593
Email: tom.heilandt@fao.org

Mr. Patrick SEKITOLEKO
Food Standards Officer
Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme
Viale delle Terme di Caracalla
00153 Rome
ITALY
Tel: +39 06 570 56626
Fax: +39 06 570 54593
E-mail: patrick.sekitoleko@fao.org

**CANADIAN SECRETARIAT
SÉCRÉTARIAT CANADIENS
SECRETARIADO CANADIENSE**

Mr. Allan McCARVILLE
Manager, International, Interagency and
Intergovernmental Affairs and
Deputy Codex Contact Point for Canada
Bureau of Policy, Intergovernmental and
International Affairs (BPIIA)
Food Directorate, Health Canada
251 Sir Frederick Banting Driveway (2204C)
Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9, CANADA
Tel.: +1-613-941-4616
Fax: +1-613-941-3537
Email: allan.mccarville@hc-sc.gc.ca
Email: codex_canada@hc-sc.gc.ca

Mr. Bertrand GAGNON
Manager, International Standard Setting
Canadian Food Inspection Agency
1400 Merivale Road, Room T1-5-339
Ottawa, ON K1A 0Y9, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-773-6092
Fax: +1-613-773-5693
E-mail: bertrand.gagnon@inspection.gc.ca

Ms. Nancy ING
Senior Advisor
International, Interagency and Intergovernmental
Affairs and Codex Contact Point for Canada
Bureau of Policy, Intergovernmental and
International Affairs (BPIIA)
Food Directorate, Health Canada
251 Sir Frederick Banting Driveway (2204C)
Ottawa, Ontario K1A OK9, CANADA
Tel.: +1-613-941-5163
Fax: +1-613-941-3537
E-mail: nancy.ing@hc-sc.gc.ca

Ms. Catherine SCEVIOUR
Acting International Senior Policy Analyst - Codex
Canadian Food Inspection Agency
1400 Merivale Road
Ottawa, ON K1A OY9, CANADA
Tel: +1-613-773-6018
Fax: +1-613-773-5693
E-mail: catherine.sceviour@inspection.gc.ca

Mr. Jordan MILLER
Manager, Codex Program Services
International, Interagency and Intergovernmental
Affairs and Codex Contact Point for Canada
Bureau of Policy, Intergovernmental and
International Affairs (BPIIA)
Food Directorate, Health Canada
251 Sir Frederick Banting Driveway (2204C)
Ottawa, Ontario K1A OK9, CANADA
Tel.: +1-613-957-1749
Fax: +1-613-941-3537
Email: jordan.a.miller@hc-sc.gc.ca
Email: codex_canada@hc-sc.gc.ca